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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

TO,

THE MEMBERS

The Directors are pleased to present the 1st Annual Report together with the audited accounts of SBI Funds International (IFSC) Limited 
for the year ended March 31, 2025.

1.	 FINANCIAL RESULTS:

	 The first Financial Year of the Company is for the period 7th February 2024 to 31st March 2025. The highlights of the financial results 
of the Company are as under:

Particulars USD Rupees (in Lakhs) 
Management Fees 48,796 41.68
Other Income 74,983 74.86
Total Income 1,23,779 116.54
Profit/(Loss) before tax (3,85,017) (317.77)
Less: Provision for tax - -
Add: Other Comprehensive Income - 42.94
Profit/(Loss) for the period (3,85,017) (274.83)

2.	 DIVIDEND:

	 The Company has not made profits in the first year of its operations. Hence, no dividend is recommended for the year under review.

3.	 TRANSFER TO RESERVES:

	 The Company has not transferred any amount from Statement of Profit and Loss to General Reserves.

4.	 CAPITAL STRUCTURE:

	 The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of SBI Funds Management Limited (“SBIFML”). The share capital of ` 25 Crore was 
infused on 8th July 2024 (2,50,00,000 Equity Shares of ̀ 10/- each fully paid up) in accordance with the Memorandum of Association 
of the Company. The net worth of the Company as at 31st March 2025 is USD 26,00,058 (INR 2,225.17 lakh).      

5.	 DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES / ASSOCIATES / JOINT VENTURES:

	 The Company does not have any subsidiary, associate or joint venture.

6.	 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS: MARKET ENVIRONMENT 2024-25:

6.1.	GLOBAL MACRO:

	 6.1.1.	 Last year was a balancing act for global central banks as they tried to keep inflation in check while supporting economic 
growth. Some took a softer approach and cut rates, while others held firm on their tight policies. The Federal Reserve and 
European Central Bank cautiously lowered rates to counter slowing growth, whereas the Bank of Japan finally moved away 
from its ultra-loose stance, inching rates upward.

	 6.1.2.	 Inflation has eased in many parts of the world, but it’s still keeping policymakers on their toes. Barring a few exceptions, 
such as Turkey, Russia and Argentina, emerging market inflation is in line with long term trends, and rather well behaved. 
That said, climate change and rising volatility in global food supply and prices are a perennial risk for EM economies. 
Global growth in 2024 landed at a modest 3.3%, with advanced economies slowing down while emerging markets showed 
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impressive resilience. Governments worldwide are now walking the tightrope—trying to foster economic growth without 
letting already high debt levels spiral out of control.	

  EM inflation is better behaved Global growth expectations have been revised downwards

Source: IMF World Economic Outlook Apr 2025, Bloomberg, SBIFM Research 

	 6.1.3.	 Now, as we enter FY2025, global trade tensions are heating up with the unwinding of “Trump Trades”. The U.S. has imposed 
arbitrary tariffs on all its trading partners, stirring uncertainty in supply chains and shaking up business confidence. In the 
near term, markets are laser-focused on growth concerns, and further retaliatory measures from other nations against U.S. 
exports could be on the horizon. If these tensions persist, inflation risks and even stagflation could become real headaches 
for developed-market central banks, severely limiting their policy options. Altogether, the shifting global trade landscape 
and tariff conflicts are expected to put a serious dent in global economic growth.

6.2.	INDIAN MACRO:

	 6.2.1.	 In India, the economy showed signs of a moderate slowdown with real GDP expected for FY25 to be at 6.5%. The growth 
was dragged down by slowdown in spending around the general elections and relatively higher than typical weather 
anomalies in 2024 which derailed construction activity. Inflation softened while exports growth improved leading to a rise 
in India’s share in world exports in 2024. 

	 6.2.2.	 India’s Real GDP growth rose to 6.2% y-o-y in Q3 FY25, a recovery from 5.6% in Q2. However, the details were mixed. 
The uptick was led by consumption spending and a contraction in imports, while fixed investment growth slowed further. 
Consumption most likely received a boost from festive demand and improved rural activity. Investment has been lacklustre 
likely because lift-up in government spending started only from December. Private capex momentum has also moderated 
in recent months.

		                                               Q3 FY25 real GDP growth at 6.2% vs. 5.6% in Q2 FY25

        
% Share 
in GDP 

(5Yr avg)

% y-o-y % y-o-y

FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24 Q1 
FY24

Q2 
FY24

Q3 
FY24

Q4 
FY24

Q1 
FY25

Q2 
FY25

Q3 
FY25

Real GDP 100 6.5 3.9 -5.8 9.7 7.4 9.0 9.7 9.3 9.5 7.8 6.5 5.6 6.2

Private  
Consumption 57 7.1 5.2 -5.3 11.7 7.3 5.0 7.4 3.0 5.7 4.0 7.7 5.9 6.9

Government  
Spending 10 6.7 3.9 -0.8 0.0 5.8 6.3 5.3 20.1 2.3 0.9 -0.5 3.8 8.3

Gross Capital  
Formation 35 11.0 -2.6 -7.4 21.1 7.0 10.3 8.9 11.9 12.4 8.0 6.4 6.1 5.0

     GFCF 32.6 11.2 1.1 -7.1 17.5 7.9 8.9 8.4 11.7 9.3 6.5 6.7 5.8 5.7

     Change in Stocks 1.0 27.3 -58.7 -76.4 525.4 21.5 41.0 46.5 59.8 55.8 5.0 7.5 2.1 3.5

     Valuables 1.5 -9.7 -14.2 29.9 32.5 -17.3 15.8 -25.4 -6.4 54.7 72.8 -12.7 13.9 -6.5

Exports 21 11.9 -3.4 -7.0 29.6 11.1 2.4 -7.0 4.6 3.0 8.1 8.1 2.5 10.4

Imports 23 8.8 -0.8 -12.6 22.1 9.3 13.0 18.0 14.3 11.3 8.3 -0.7 -2.5 -1.1

		       Source: CMIE Economic Outlook, SBIFM Research; NB: Change in Stock turned from negative to positive in FY22
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	 6.2.3.	 As we move into FY 2026, easing credit supply to households, a likely improved agri income, some positive effects from 
personal income tax reduction, resumption of real estate and infra construction activity translating into better construction 
jobs, and contained inflationary pressures are expected to lead to a modest revival in consumption demand. One common 
argument for a better Indian economic growth in FY26 is placed around monetary easing (both rates, liquidity and regulatory) 
and that should help in revival of credit led growth. However, downside risks from external events could emerge that may 
keep growth outlook below potential, warranting policy support.

	 6.2.4.	 India’s business environment in FY 2025 shows strong supply-side resilience with rising order inflows, improving coal output, 
cement production, and steel demand, but weak movement of goods signals subdued consumption. Despite recovering 
capital goods production and imports, business sentiment has moderated, and global tariff uncertainties threaten future 
investment cycles. 

	 6.2.5.	 Central government expenditure declined 18% y-o-y in Feb – thereby turning out to be one more indicator to point at 
weakness in economic activity. FY25 fiscal deficit could be 4.7% of GDP vs. RE of 4.8% of GDP and BE of 4.9%, largely 
attributed to low realization in the capex target.

Central government expenditure declined 
18% y-o-y in Feb 2025

Government infrastructure thrust is plateauing

Source: RBI, CMIE Economic Outlook, SBIFM Research

	 6.2.6.	 While the government capex thrust would have plateaued, the order pipeline for corporates still appears to be healthy. The 
first half of FY26 will likely reflect a base effect due to lower government spending. As a result, growth will likely play a more 
prominent role in shaping monetary policy decisions for 2025. As a base case one should expect monetary conditions 
(rates, liquidity and regulations) to get growth supportive in FY26. Global growth backdrop also warrants policy support 
to growth. Nominal growth in FY26 is expected to moderate to 8-9% from 9-10% in FY25.

Nominal growth in FY26 could see a downside risk

		  Source: CMIE Economic Outlook, SBIFM Research
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	 6.2.7.	 India’s retail inflation outlook looks sanguine. Two years of vegetable price rise would provide a strong favourable base. And 
it isn’t like consumer demand is overheating, thus the core would stay under control (a modest rise built in estimates). No 
material rise in transportation cost is also a big help. Thus, India’s retail inflation outlook creates an enabling environment 
to take growth supportive measures. We expect CPI to average under 4% in FY26. 

	 6.2.8.	 On external account front, a dichotomy has emerged. The current account deficit remains modest (aided by healthy services 
exports, contained crude priced and a healthy flow of remittances), but capital inflows have fallen considerably. One of the 
most adverse developments for India is sharp fall in net FDI inflow and hence a deterioration of basic balance. 

	 6.2.9.	 Overall, we believe rural consumption and higher government spending will lift GDP growth slightly over the next two 
quarters. In the last two years, fiscal policy was focused on consolidation, and monetary policy was centred on inflation 
and financial stability, while growth has taken a backseat. Both monetary and fiscal policy has increased their focus on 
growth.

	 6.2.10.	 RBI has initiated rate cut cycle, taking measures to support liquidity, easing regulatory restrictions on credit. On the fiscal 
side, while there is a continued fiscal consolidation, a better realization of spending targets vs. FY25 could be growth 
accretive. Between consumption and investment, investment could be a likely out-performer in FY26.

6.3.	OUTLOOK:

	 6.3.1.	 EQUITY:

	 The economic activity momentum was sluggish in H2FY25 with public sector capex not seeing the desired pick up after the general 
election in 1HFY25. Business sentiment has significantly moderated. Corporate capex is expected to grow at a slower pace in 
FY26, with government infrastructure projects plateauing and global growth risks from tariffs. Trade policy uncertainty may further 
weigh on trade and global growth. Key indicators like bank credit growth, GST collection, energy demand, and freight activity-- all 
show moderate growth. Though there are some sector-specific positives such as strong service sector exports and steel sector 
performance. Positive factors like better agricultural income, personal income tax cut, and resumption in construction activities 
should support modest consumption revival, with credit growth being the strongest driver if it picks up. In conclusion, a strong 
demand boost to push India’s growth above 7% is currently lacking, which could impact earnings expectations.

	 Indian equities exhibited some stability in the month of March after the sharp sell-off of the past few months. The Nifty and the Sensex 
ended the month with gains of 6.3% and 5.8% respectively even as risks around the much-feared Trump tariff announcements on 
2nd April loomed large. The actual tariff announcements were significantly worse than feared. While the increase in tariffs was even 
sharper for some competing exporting countries in Asia and hence on a relative basis, tariffs on India did not look particularly bad, 
the absolute number at 27% for most Indian sectors (excluding primarily Pharma and IT services, and Auto which was separately 
covered in an earlier announcement), was quite steep. There is expectation that some of these tariffs could settle lower with bilateral 
negotiations between India and the US.

	 The immediate market reaction was a significant drop in US yields as well the US dollar. This could have helped cushion the initial 
reaction on global markets relative to the US markets. Emerging market (EM) equities and commodities, the two asset classes 
that have significantly underperformed the US for nearly one and a half decades, have been amongst the better performing asset 
classes so far in 2025 even amidst tariff risks. That said, the second order risks from the US tariff action are still significant. For one, 
US consumer sentiment could plummet and with the inflationary impact of tariffs, it could put the US economy into a recession and 
potentially stagflation, in turn adversely impacting global economy and financial markets. Global trade coming off is not good news 
either. In addition, prolonged uncertainty and slower global trade could dent corporate confidence and potentially derail corporate 
capital expenditure plans. 

	 In this context, Indian equities will likely stay volatile in the foreseeable future. That said, on our asset allocation frameworks, two 
things have changed over the past few months. First, the price correction on equity indexes such as the Nifty and the Sensex, 
along with a sharp decline in Indian 10-year bond yields has brought headline index valuations closer to historical averages on our 
preferred gauge of earnings yield to bond yields spread. Second, the correction has also erased the exuberant readings on our 
proprietary equity sentiment measure and brought it back to neutral levels. To be sure it is not at a pessimistic extreme yet, nor are 
valuations outright cheap, but the current neutral readings on both measures and likely continued market turbulence may provide 
much saner entry levels for long term investors versus six months ago. 
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	 However, in view of heightened macro uncertainties and potential growth slowdown, we continue to advocate equity exposure 
through quality businesses, i.e. companies with strong business models, long-term earnings growth visibility, and sustainable 
cashflows.

US bond yields and US dollar continue to retreat

Source: SBIFM research, Bloomberg

Commodities and EM Equities have outperformed CYTD even amidst tariff uncertainties

Source: SBIFM research, Bloomberg. Data till March end.

Large cap valuations, on earnings yield to bond yield spread, moderate

Source: Bloomberg, SBIFM Research
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Equity market sentiment dips below zero for the first time in nearly two years

Source: Bloomberg, FactSet, SBIFM Research; Note: ESI stands for Equity Sentiment Index, our proprietary equity market sentiment measure.

Prefer Quality amidst the uncertainty

Source: FactSet, SBIFM Research. Returns are the difference in rolling 3-year CAGR returns of the average of top 2 quintiles on the two styles. The 
classification into quintiles is based on SBIFM’s definition of the respective style/factor. A falling line indicates Quality’s performance improving 
versus Value and vice versa.

6.3.2. FIXED INCOME: 

	 Over the last half of the fiscal, financial markets globally witnessed significant volatility and repricing with the first half witnessing 
optimism surrounding US exceptionalism and subsequent unwinding of the same over the last few months. RBI policy stance 
significantly shifted over the period as policy rates and stance evolved in line with the domestic growth- inflation matrix.

	 The relevance of forceful liquidity actions that supplement monetary policy action was reinforced over the last quarter in the domestic 
bond markets. Seasonality in supply pressure and liquidity flows were broadly neutralized as the combination of frictional and 
durable liquidity infusion measures led to a material softening in market yields as well as some tightening in spreads. 

	 The initial impact of the RBI rate cut in February was muted as the central bank provided no guidance on liquidity actions. Subsequently 
the RBI scaled up the quantum of liquidity infusion through both durable and frictional measures including daily repo auctions. The 
impact of liquidity actions, with a cumulative durable liquidity injection of Rs 8.9 trillion (Including the additional Rs 800 bn OMO for 
April and the longer VRRR) since Dec 24 has clearly led to better transmission and would continue to be relevant going forward. 
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G Sec 30th September 2024 28th March 2025

3 years G Sec 6.66% 6.43% -0.23%

5 years G Sec 6.67% 6.48% -0.19%

10 years G Sec 6.75% 6.58% -0.17%

15 years G Sec 6.79% 6.69% -0.10%

30 years G Sec 6.89% 6.90% 0.02%

Slope 3x30y 0.22% 0.47%

SDL

10-12Y 7.10% 6.95%

AAA-PFC

1Y AAA 7.67% 7.40% -0.27%

2Y AAA 7.56% 7.24% -0.32%

3Y AAA 7.41% 7.24% -0.17%

5Y AAA 7.28% 7.20% -0.08%

10Y AAA 7.20% 7.10% -0.10%

Slope 1x10y -0.47% -0.30%

Spreads Vs G Sec

3Y AAA 0.63% 0.71% 0.07%

5Y AAA 0.50% 0.62% 0.12%

10Y AAA 0.34% 0.41% 0.08%

INR/USD 83.8013 85.47 -1.99%

DXY 100.779 104.044 3.24%

UST 3.75% 4.25% 0.50%

Brent 72.900 73.630 1.00%

OIS Swaps

1Y 6.39% 6.04% -0.35%

3Y 6.03% 5.84% -0.19%

5Y 6.03% 5.90% -0.13%

	 The RBI is widely expected to ease policy rates further in the upcoming review in April. With a policy rate setting at 6% and directional 
view on positive durable liquidity in the system, the recent transmission into market interest rates is expected to be sustained. At 
the same time, given that the neutral stance was linked to external uncertainties, there may possibly be no change in the stance 
as possibly being anticipated. Notwithstanding the same, incremental RBI actions have clearly been toward aligning system rates 
lower in line with the prevailing monetary policy signalling rate. Even as the terminal rate debates could keep emerging with varying 
estimates of additional easing, we anticipate that the cumulative easing will remain shallow. At the same time, the possible growth 
impact can and would most likely be managed through surplus overall liquidity. This would effectively result in periods where the 
effective overnight rate settings stay a bit below the Policy repo rate.
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7. 	 BUSINESS PERFORMANCE DURING THE YEAR:

7.1	 SBI Funds Management Limited, through its IFSC branch, launched the SBI Investment Opportunities Fund (IFSC), a Category 
III Alternative Investment Fund registered with IFSCA, on 29th December 2023. The International Financial Services Centres 
Authority (‘IFSCA’) has granted certificate of registration dated June 27, 2024 to SBI Funds International (IFSC) Limited to carry 
out activities as a Fund Management Entity (Retail) vide registration number is IFSCA/FME/III/2022-23/010. The Company has 
taken over the existing fund management business of SBIFML (IFSC Branch) with effect from 12th August 2024.

7.2	 A snapshot of the performance of SBI Investment Opportunities Fund (IFSC) is provided below:

(Amount in USD)

Particulars Reporting Year
2024-25

Previous Year
2023-24

Total Assets mobilized 14,21,328 61,59,861
Total Redemptions 1,58,863 Nil
Net Inflows 12,62,465 61,59,861
AUM as at 31st March 75,83,331 61,50,567

8.	 IFSC – REGULATORY DEVELOPMENTS:

	 Throughout the year, IFSCA continued to work with the aim of fostering a robust and globally competitive fund management 
ecosystem. The various regulations issued by IFSCA are aligned with global best practices, encourage innovation and enhance 
the ease of doing fund management activities in IFSC.

v	 IFSCA notified the IFSCA (Fund Management) Regulations, 2025 on February 19, 2025 introducing investor-friendly measures, 
reduced entry barriers, and increased operational flexibility, supporting the continued growth of GIFT-IFSC’s fund management 
industry. While easing compliance for FMEs, the new regulations also implement stronger safeguards for investor protection, 
marking a positive step in GIFT-IFSC’s evolution as a global financial hub.

v	 In June 2024, SEBI amended the SEBI (FPI) Regulations, 2019 and Master Circular for FPIs to provide flexibility for increased 
contribution by Non-Resident Indians (NRIs), Overseas Citizens of India (OCIs) and Resident Indian (RI) Individuals, in the 
corpus of certain FPIs based out of an IFSC in India and regulated by the IFSCA, subject to the following conditions.

•	 the contribution of a single NRI, OCI, or RI individual to be below 25% of the corpus of the applicant;

•	 the aggregate contribution of NRIs, OCIs, or RI individuals in the corpus of the applicant to be beyond 50% (can be upto 
100%) of the corpus of the applicant;

•	 the contribution of RI individuals made through the LRS route shall be in global funds whose Indian exposure is less than 
50%; and 

•	 the NRIs, OCI and RI individuals shall not be in control of the applicant. 

v	 To promote greater accountability within FMEs IFSCA has outlined a clear and standardised process for the appointment and 
change of Key Managerial Personnel (KMP) of the FMEs vide circular dated 20th February 2025.

9.	 CHANGE IN NATURE OF BUSINESS:  

	 There was no change in nature of business during the year under review.

10.	 ENERGY CONSERVATION, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS & OUTGO:

	 10.1.	 Conservation of Energy and Technology Absorption:

	 	 Since the Company does not own any facility, the disclosure under this head is not applicable. 

	 10.2.	 Foreign Exchange Earnings and Outgo:

Particulars Amount in USD Amount in INR Lakhs
Earnings in Foreign Currency - -
Expenditure in Foreign Currency 4,37,040 373.94
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11.	 MATERIAL CHANGES AND COMMITMENTS, IF ANY AFFECTING THE FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY WHICH 
HAVE OCCURRED IN BETWEEN THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR OF THE COMPANY TO WHICH THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS RELATE AND THE DATE OF THE REPORT

	 There have been no material changes and commitments affecting the financial position of the Company which have occurred 
between the end of the financial year 2024-25 and the date of this report.

12.	 RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

	 The broad principle of the Risk Management Policy of SBI Funds Management Limited (the Holding Company) applies to all the 
businesses conducted by the AMC including its subsidiaries, duly approved by the Board of the Company. It encompasses key 
risk categories such as Investment Risk, Operational Risk, Reputation Risk, Cyber Risk, Financial Risk, and others.

	 The Policy outlines the enterprise risk control framework, including mechanisms for risk identification, escalation, monitoring, and 
mitigation. We employ a Risk Control Self-Assessment process to identify potential risks, which are then escalated appropriately 
to the Board of Directors and the Risk Management Committee.

13.	 INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS

	 The Company has put in place adequate internal control systems that are commensurate with the size of its operations. Internal 
control systems comprising policies and procedures are designed to ensure sound management of the Company’s operations, 
safekeeping of its assets, optimal utilisation of resources, reliability of its financial information, and compliance. Clearly defined 
roles and responsibilities have been institutionalised, and systems and procedures are periodically reviewed to keep pace with 
the growing size and complexity of the Company’s operations. During the year, these controls were tested and were found to be 
operating effectively.

14.	 CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR)

	 The Company is not covered under the provisions of Section 135 of Companies Act, 2013 relating to Corporate Social Responsibility 
(CSR).

15.	 LOANS, GUARANTEES OR INVESTMENTS

	 There are no Loans or Guarantees given by the Company under the provisions of Section 186 of the Companies Act, 2013. All the 
investments made by the Company are within the limits specified under Section 186 of the Companies Act, 2013. The details of 
investments made during the financial year under review pursuant to the Section 186 of the Companies Act, 2013 are provided in 
the Notes to the Financial Statements forming part of the Annual Report.

16.	 DEPOSITS:

	 The Company has neither accepted deposit from the public nor from the members of the Company falling within the ambit of 
Section 73 to 76 of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Companies (Acceptance of Deposits) Rules, 2014. Further, the Company has 
not accepted any funds from the Director(s) of the Company during the financial year under review.

17.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

	 All related party transactions entered into by the Company during the financial year were on arm’s length basis and in the ordinary 
course of business of the Company. The details of all related party transactions have been placed before the Audit Committee of 
the Board and are provided in Note no. 27 to the financial statements of the Company.

18.	 DIRECTORS

	 18.1.	 During the period under review and till the date of this Report, the following changes took place in the Board of Directors 
of the Company:

a)	 Mr. Shamsher Singh (DIN^: 09787674) was appointed as First Director (Associate) of the Company and ceased to 
be Director (Associate) with effect from November 23, 2024.

b)	 Mr. D. P. Singh (DIN^: 08778465) was appointed as First Director (Associate) of the Company.

c)	 Mr. Inderjeet Ghuliani (DIN^: 10496809) was appointed as First Director (Associate) of the Company and ceased to 
be Director (Associate) with effect from May 31, 2024.
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d)	 Mr. Krishnamurthy Vijayan (DIN^: 00589406) was appointed as Additional Director (Independent) and the Chairman of 
the Board with effect from May 30, 2024, subject to approval of shareholders at the ensuing Annual General Meeting.

e)	 Mr. Navdeep Singh Suri (DIN^: 08775385) was appointed as Additional Director (Independent) on the Board with 
effect from May 30, 2024. subject to approval of shareholders at the ensuing Annual General Meeting.

f)	 Mr. Nand Kishore (DIN^: 10237736) was appointed as Additional Director (Associate) on the Board with effect from 
November 23, 2024, subject to approval of shareholders at the ensuing Annual General Meeting. 

	 	 The Board placed on record its appreciation to the valuable contribution made by Mr. Shamsher Singh and Mr. Inderjeet 
Ghuliani during their tenure and welcomed Mr. Krishnamurthy Vijayan, Mr. Navdeep Singh Suri and Mr. Nand Kishore on 
the Board of the Company.

		  (^) DIN – Directors’ Identification Number 

	 18.2.	 Mr. Manish Makharia (Principal Officer) was designated as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and is classified as 
Key Managerial Personnel (KMP) with effect from July 22, 2024. Mr. Yashpal Sharma (Compliance Officer) was designated 
as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company and is classified as Key Managerial Personnel (KMP) with effect from March 
21, 2025. Mr. Santosh Sidiri was appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company and is classified as Key Managerial 
Personnel (KMP) with effect from March 21, 2025.  

	 	 The following officials are classified as KMP of the Company as per Section 203 of the Companies Act, 2013.  

NAME DESIGNATION
Mr. Manish Makharia Chief Executive Officer & Principal Officer
Mr. Yashpal Sharma Chief Financial Officer & Compliance Officer
Mr. Santosh Sidiri Company Secretary

	 18.3.	 BOARD MEETINGS:

	 	 During the period under review 5 (five) meetings of the Board were held on following dates: March 05, May 30, July 22, 
and December 17 of 2024 and March 21 of 2025.

		  The attendance of each director at the meetings of the Board of Directors is as under:

Name of the Director DIN^ Category of Director Number of meetings 
attended

Mr. Krishnamurthy Vijayan* 00589406 Independent Director 3
Mr. Navdeep Singh Suri* 08775385 Independent Director 3
Mr. Shamsher Singh** 09787674 Associate Director 3
Mr. Nand Kishore* 10237736 Associate Director 2
Mr. D. P. Singh 08778465 Associate Director 5
Mr. Inderjeet Ghuliani** 10496809 Associate Director 2

		  (*) Appointed during the period under review as specified in Para 18.1 above
		  (**) Resigned/ceased during the period under review as specified in Para 18.1 above
		  (^) DIN – Directors’ Identification Number 
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	 18.4. 	 AUDIT COMMITTEE OF DIRECTORS

	 	 The Board of Directors of the Company at its meeting held on December 17, 2024, constituted the Audit Committee of the 
Board of Directors with the following members of the Board:

	 	 1.  Mr. Krishnamurthy Vijayan

	 	 2.  Mr. Navdeep Singh Suri

	 	 3.  Mr. Nand Kishore

		  During the year under review, 1 (one) meeting of the Audit Committee was held on March 21, 2025:

Name of the Director DIN^ Category of Director Number of meetings 
attended

Mr. Krishnamurthy Vijayan 00589406 Independent Director 1
Mr. Navdeep Singh Suri 08775385 Independent Director 1
Mr. Nand Kishore 10237736 Associate Director 1

(^) DIN – Directors’ Identification Number

	 18.5. 	 Independent Director Declaration u/s. 149 (6)

	 	 All the Independent Directors have submitted the requisite declarations, on a voluntary basis, confirming that they continue 
to meet the criteria of independence as prescribed under section 149(6) of the Companies Act, 2013 and SEBI (Mutual 
Funds) Regulations, 1996. The Company’s Board is of the opinion that the Independent Directors possess requisite 
qualifications, experience, and expertise in industry knowledge; innovation; financial expertise; information technology; 
corporate governance; strategic expertise; legal and compliance; sustainability; risk management; and general management, 
and they hold highest standards of integrity.

19.	 DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 134(5) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013  

The Directors hereby confirm that:

a)	 In the preparation of the annual accounts of the Company for the year ended 31st March, 2025, the applicable Indian Accounting 
Standards have been followed.

b)	 Reasonable and prudent accounting policies have been selected and applied consistently along with reasonable and prudent 
judgments and estimates so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company at the end of the financial year 
and the profit or loss of the Company for that period.

c)	 Proper and sufficient care has been taken for the maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions 
of the Companies Act, 2013 for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other 
irregularities.

d)	 Internal financial controls in the Company are adequate and operating effectively.

e)	 The annual accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis.

f)	 The Company has devised proper systems to ensure compliance with the provisions of all applicable laws and that such 
systems were adequate and operating effectively.	

20.	 COMPLAINT HANDLING AND GRIEVANCE REDRESSAL DURING FY 2024-25:

Received Resolved Rejected Pending
Nil Nil Nil Nil

21.	 WEB ADDRESS OF ANNUAL RETURN

	 In terms of the provisions of Section 92 and Section 134 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 12 of the Companies (Management 
and Administration) Rules, 2014, the Annual Return of the Company is available on the website of the Company, i.e., https://sbifunds.
com/Gift
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22.	 MATERIAL ORDERS BY REGULATOR, COURT, TRIBUNALS IMPACTING GOING CONCERN AND COMPANY’S OPERATION

	 There is no material order by any regulator, court, tribunals which has any significant impact on the going concern status and the 
Company’s operation in future.

23.	 APPLICATION MADE OR ANY PROCEEDING PENDING UNDER THE INSOLVENCY AND BANKRUPTCY CODE, 2016 DURING 
THE YEAR

	 There is no application made or any proceeding pending under the Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016 against the Company.

24.	 DETAILS OF DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE AMOUNT OF THE VALUATION DONE AT THE TIME OF ONE TIME SETTLEMENT 
AND THE VALUATION DONE WHILE TAKING LOAN FROM THE BANKS OR FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

	 The Company has not done any one-time settlement nor taken loan from any Bank or financial institution.

25.	 DETAILS OF FRAUDS REPORTED BY AUDITORS UNDER SECTION 143(12) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013

	 There was no fraud identified by the Company. The auditors of the Company have also not reported any frauds under section 
143(12) of the Companies Act, 2013.

26.	 PREVENTION OF SEXUAL HARASSMENT (‘POSH’) POLICY AND ITS REPORTING 

	 Our Company has always believed in providing a safe and harassment free workplace for every individual working in the Company. 
Our Company has endeavoured to create and provide an environment that is free from any kind of discrimination and harassment.

	 The Company has 5 employees on deputation as on March 31, 2025, hence Internal Committee is not required to be constituted 
under the Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013 (‘POSH Act’).

	 Further, during the financial year ended March 31, 2025 status of complaints is as follows:

	 (a) number of complaints of sexual harassment received in the year: Nil

	 (b) number of complaints disposed off during the year: Nil

	 (c) number of cases pending for more than ninety days: Nil

27.	 MATERNITY BENEFIT ACT, 1961

	 The provisions relating to Maternity Benefit Act, 1961 have been complied with. 

28.	 MAINTENANCE OF COST RECORDS

	 Disclosure pertaining to maintenance of cost records as specified by the Central Government under section 148(1) of the Companies 
Act, 2013 is not applicable to the Company. 

29.	 REPORTING ON THE RECOMMENDATIONS MADE BY THE COMMITTEE ON PAPERS LAID ON THE TABLE (RAJYA SABHA) 
IN ITS 150TH REPORT

	 A)	 Details of the Vigilance Cases for the FY 2024-25:

Opening Cases Cases received during 
2024-25

Cases Disposed off Closing Cases

Nil Nil Nil Nil

	 B)	 Status of Pending CAG Paras and Management Replies:

	 There is no pending CAG Para as on the date of this Report.

30.	 CODE OF CONDUCT: 

	 The Directors confirm that all Board members have affirmed compliance with the Company’s Code of Conduct for the financial 
year 2024-25.
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31.	 PERSONNEL: 

	 Employee relations remained cordial during the year. The Directors place on record their appreciation of the dedicated work put 
in by all the employees.

32.	 STATUTORY AUDITORS 

	 The Comptroller and Auditor General of India (CAG) has appointed M/s. Ambalal Patel & Co. as the Statutory Auditor of the Com-
pany for the year under review, who will retire at the conclusion of the first Annual General Meeting. Under Section 142(1) of the 
Companies Act, 2013, the remuneration of Auditors appointed under Section 139(5) by the CAG is fixed by the Company in the 
Annual General Meeting. 

	 There were no qualifications, reservations or adverse comments or disclaimers made by the statutory auditor in their audit report.

33.	 SECRETARIAL AUDITORS: 

	 The provisions of Section 204 of the Companies Act, 2013, are not applicable to the Company.

34.	 COMPLIANCE OF SECRETARIAL STANDARDS:  

	 The Company has complied with applicable Secretarial Standards during the year.

35.	 ACKNOWLEDGEMENT:

	 The Directors take this opportunity to express their gratitude for the continued support and co-operation extended by the State 
Bank of India, the Registrars & Transfer Agents, the Custodians, the Collecting Banks, Government Agencies, Auditors, IFSCA, 
SEBI, the Board of Directors of the Holding Company and market intermediaries. 

	 The Directors also express their gratitude to the investors for the faith reposed in the FME and look forward to their continued 
patronage.

	 For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 
of SBI Funds International (IFSC) Limited

Sd/-

Place: Gandhinagar	 Krishnamurthy Vijayan
Date: 25th July 2025 Chairman 

DIN: 00589406
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of 
SBI FUNDS INTERNATIONAL (IFSC) LIMITED
CIN : U64990GJ2024PLC148409

Report on the audit of Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying standalone financial statements of SBI Funds Internatinal (IFSC) Limited (the “Company”), which 
comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31st, 2025, the Statement of Profit and Loss, including Other Comprehensive Income, the 
Cash Flow Statement and the Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including 
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as “the financial statements”).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid financial statements give 
the information required by the Companies Act, 2013, as amended (the “Act”), in the manner so required and give a true and fair view 
in conformity with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) prescribed under section 133 of the Act and other accounting principles 
generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at March 31, 2025, its loss including other comprehensive income, 
its cash flows and the changes in equity for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit of the standalone  financial statements in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs), as specified under 
section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ‘Code 
of Ethics’ issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with the independence requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial statements under the provisions of the Act and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the standalone  financial statements.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the standalone  financial 
statements for the financial year ended March 31, 2025. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the standalone 
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Information other than the Standalone Financial statements and Auditor’s report thereon

The Company’s Management and Board of Directors are responsible for the preparation of other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the Board’s report including Annexures to Board’s report, but does not include the standalone 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The Company’s Annual Report is expected to be made available to us after the 
date of this Audit Report.									       

Our opinion on the standalone financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.									       

In connection with our audit of the standalone  financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above 
when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether such other information is materially inconsistent with the standalone  
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we are required 
to report the fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Management’s and Board of Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Company’s Management and Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the Act with respect to 
the preparation of these financial statements that give a true and fair view of the financial position, financial performance including other 
comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in equity of the Company in accordance with the accounting principles generally 
accepted in India, including the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified under section 133 of the Act read with the Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended. This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records 
in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and 
other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable 
and prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively 
for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the standalone 
financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management and Board of Directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.	

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the standalone financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
standalone  financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 
audit. We also: 

1.	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the standalone  financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve  collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

2.	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Companies Act, 2013, we are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether 
the company has adequate internal financial controls system in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls.	

3.	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by management and Board of Directors. 

4.	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management and Board of Directors use of the going concern basis of  accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

5.	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the 
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 	 	
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Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the standalone financial statements that, individually or in aggregate, make it probable 
that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable user of the standalone financial statements may be influenced. We consider 
quantitative materiality and qualitative factors in (i) planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work; and 
(ii) to evaluate the effect of any identified misstatements in the standalone financial statements.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1.	 As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 (“the Order”), issued by the Central Government of India in terms 
of sub-section (11) of section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013, we give in the Annexure A, a statement on the matters specified in 
paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order, to the extent applicable.

2.	 As acquired by section 143(3) of the Act, we report that:

(a)	 We have sought and  obtain all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary 
for the purpose of our audit;	

(b)	 In our opinion proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far as appears from our 
examination of those books;	

(c)	 The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss including the Statement of Other Comprehensive Income, the Cash Flow 
Statement and Statement of Changes in Equity dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the books of account;

(d)	 In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone financial statements comply with Ind AS specified under Section 133 of the Act;

(e)	 On the basis of written representations received from the directors as on March 31st, 2025, and taken on record by the Board 
of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on March 31st, 2025, from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 
164 (2) of the Act.”)

(f)	 With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls over financial reporting of the Company and the operating 
effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in “Annexure B” wherein we have expressed an unmodified 
opinion;	

(g)	 With respect to the other matters to be included in the auditor’s report in accordance with the requirements of section 197(16) 
of the Act (as amended), the provisions of the said section are not applicable to the Company;	

(h)	 With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit 
and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us:  		
					   

	 (i)	 There is no pending litigation that may have impact on its financial statements.

	 (ii)	 The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which there were any material 
foreseeable losses.

	 (iii)	 There is no amount to be transferred to Investors Education and Protection Fund.	

	 (iv) (a) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, no funds have been advanced or loaned 
or invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the Company to or 
in any other persons or entities, including foreign entities (“Intermediaries”), with the understanding, whether recorded 
in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether, directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities 
identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, 
security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries;

	 	 (b) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, no funds have been received by the 
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Company from any persons or entities, including foreign entities (“Funding Parties”), with the understanding, whether 
recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Company shall, whether, directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or 
entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any 
guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries; and

	 	 (c) Based on such audit procedures performed that have been considered reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances, 
nothing has come to our notice that has caused us to believe that the representations under sub-clause (a) and (b) contain 
any material misstatement.						    

	 (v)	 There is no dividend declared and paid by the company, during the year in accordance with section 123 of the Companies 
Act, 2013.

	 (vi)	Based on our examination which included test checks, the Company has used accounting softwares for maintaining its 
books of account which, along with access management tools, as applicable, have a feature of recording audit trail (edit 
log) facility and the same has operated throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the respective softwares. 
Further, during the course of our audit, we did not come across any instance of audit trail feature being tampered with.	

3.	 As required by Section 143(5) of the Act, with respect to reporting under the directions issued by the Comptroller and Auditor-
General of India, we report that:

SR. 
NO.

DIRECTIONS ISSUED BY THE COMPTROLLER AND 
AUDITOR-GENERAL OF INDIA

AUDITOR’S COMMENTS

I Whether the Company has a system in place to process all 
the accounting transactions through the IT System? If yes, 
the implications of processing of accounting transactions 
outside the IT system on the integrity of the accounts along 
with the financial implication, if any may be stated?

The Company has a system in place to process all the 
accounting transactions through IT system. As such, we have 
not come across any accounting transactions processed 
outside IT system which would have an impact on the integrity 
of the accounts or any financial implications. 

II Whether there is any restructuring of an existing loan or 
cases of waiver/write off of debts /loans /interest etc. made 
by a lender to the Company due to the Company’s inability 
to repay the loan? If yes, the financial impact may be stated. 
Whether such cases are properly accounted for? (In case, the 
lender is a Government Company, then its direction is also 
applicable for the statutory auditor of the lender company).

Based on our examination of relevant records of the 
Company and the information and explanations received 
from the Management, there were no borrowings made by 
the Company and hence, this clause is not applicable for 
the year 2024-25.

III Whether funds (grants/subsidy, etc.) received /receivable 
for specific schemes from Central/State Government or its 
agencies were properly accounted for / utilized as per its 
terms and conditions? List the cases of deviation.

Based on our examination of relevant records of the Company 
and the information and explanations received from the 
Management, there are no funds received/receivable from 
Central/State agencies and hence this clause is not applicable 
for the year 2024-25. 

For AMBALAL PATEL & CO 
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 
Firm’s Registration No.100305W

	 Sd/- 
Place: Ahmedabad	 CA NILAY R BHAVSAR  
Date: April 18, 2025	 (PARTNER) 
	 Membership No. 137932 

UDIN NO.: 25137932BMIIUM5026
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ANNEXURE A TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

(Referred to paragraph 1 under the heading of “Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements” of our report 
of even date)

(i)	 (a)	 The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars including quantitative details and situation of tangible 
and intangible assets.

	 (b)	 According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of the records of the Company, 
the Company has a regular programme of physical verification of its Property, Plant and Equipment by which all property, 
plant and equipment are verified every year. In accordance with this programme, all property, plant and equipment were 
verified during the year. In our opinion, this periodicity of physical verification is reasonable having regard to the size of the 
Company and the nature of its assets. No discrepancies were noticed on such verification.

	 (c)	 The Company does not have immovable property. The Company has executed a Provisional Letter of Allotment (PLOA) for 
transfer of existing lease of office premises [under the name of SBI Funds Management Limited (IFSC Branch)] upon exit of 
the IFSC Branch from SEZ.

	 (d)	 The Company has not revalued its Property, Plant and Equipment (including Right of Use assets) or intangible assets or 
both during the year.

	 (e)	 No proceedings have been initiated or are pending against the company for holding any benami property under the Benami 
Transactions (Prohibition) Act, 1988 (45 of 1988) and rules made there under.

(ii)	 The Company is a service company, primarily rendering Investment Management services. It does not hold any physical inventories 
and hence, clause 3(ii) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(iii)	 According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of the records of the Company, 
the Company has not made any investments, provided guarantee or security or granted any loans or advances in the nature of 
loans, secured or unsecured, to companies, firms, limited liability partnerships or any other parties during the year. Accordingly, 
provisions of clauses 3(iii)(a) to 3(iii)(f) of the Order are not applicable to the Company.

(iv)	 According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has not given any loans, guarantees or securities in 
respect of provisions of Sections 185 and 186 of Companies Act, 2013. Further, in respect of investments made, the Company 
has complied with the provisions of Section 186 of the Companies Act, 2013.

(v)	 In our opinion, and according to information and explanations given to us, the Company has not accepted deposits within the 
meaning of sections 73 to 76 of the Act or any other relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules framed there 
under. Hence clause 3(v) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(vi)	 The Central Government of India has not specified the maintenance of cost records under section 148(1) of Companies Act, 
2013 for any of the services rendered by the Company.

(vii)	 (a) 	The Company has generally been regular in depositing undisputed statutory dues including Income-tax, GST, provident 
fund and other statutory dues applicable to the Company with appropriate authorities. According to the information and 
explanations given to us and the books of accounts and records examined by us, no undisputed amounts payable in respect 
of Income-tax, GST, provident fund, ESIC or any other statutory duesapplicable to the Company, were outstanding as on the 
last day of the financial year, for a period of more than six months from the date they became payable.	

	 (b)	 On the basis of our examination of the documents and records, there is no disputed amount pending in respect of any 
statutory dues.	

(viii)	 In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has not surrendered or disclosed 
any transactions, previously unrecorded as income in the books of accounts, in the tax assessments under the Income-tax Act, 
1961 as income during the year.

(ix)	 (a) 	According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of the records of the Company, 
the Company did not have any loans or borrowings from any lender during the year. Accordingly, clause 3(ix)(a) to (f) of the 
Order is not applicable to the Company.	  
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(x)	 (a)	 	The Company has not raised monies by way of initial public offer or further public offer (including debt instruments) or term 
loans during the year. Accordingly, clause 3(x)(a) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

	 (b) 	The Company has not made any preferential allotment or private placement of shares or convertible debentures (fully, partially 
or optionally convertible) during the year. Accordingly, clause 3(x)(b) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(xi)	 (a) 	According to the information and explanation given to us and to the best of our knowledge and belief, no fraud on or by the 
Company, has been noticed or reported during the year.

	 (b) 	We have not filed any report under sub-section (12) of section 143 of the Companies Act in Form ADT-4 as prescribed under 
rule 13 of Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 with the Central Government, with respect to the current year;

	 (c) 	According to the information and explanation given to us and to the best of our knowledge and belief, no whistle-blower 
complaints have been received during the year by the Company.

(xii)	 Since the company is not Nidhi Company, clause 3(xii)(a) to (c) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(xiii)	 The Company is a unlisted public company which is a wholly owned subsidiary and accordingly, the requirements as stipulated 
by the provisions of Section 177 of the Act are not applicable to the Company. In our opinion and according to the information 
and explanations  given to us and on the basis of our examination of records of the Company, transactions with the related 
parties are in compliance with Section 188 of the Act where applicable and details of such transactions have been disclosed in 
the financial statements as required by the applicable accounting standards.

(xiv)	 (a)	 The company is having an internal audit system which; in our opinion, is reasonable having regard to the size of the company 
and the nature of its business;

	 (b) We have taken into consideration reports of the Internal Auditors for the period under audit;	

(xv)	 According to information and explanation given to us, the company has not entered into any non-cash transactions with directors 
or persons connected with him and hence, clause 3(xv) of the Order is not applicable.

(xvi)	 (a) 	According to information and explanation given to us, the Company is not required to be registered under section 45-IA of 
the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 and hence, clause 3(xvi) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(xvii)	 The Company has incurred cash losses of ` 2,47,70,344/- in the current financial year.

(xviii)	 There has been no resignation of statutory auditors during the year, hence clause 3(xviii) of the Order is not applicable to the 
Company.

(xix)  	 On the basis of the financial ratios, ageing and expected dates of realisation of financial assets and payment of financial liabilities, 
other information accompanying the financial statements, our knowledge of the Board of Directors and management plans, we 
are of the opinion that no material uncertainty exists as on the date of the audit report that company is capable of meeting its 
liabilities existing at the date of balance sheet as and when they fall due within a period of one year from the balance sheet date.

(xx)	 According to the information and explanations given to us, provisions of section 135 of the Act are not applicable to the Company. 
Accordingly, clause 3(xx)(a) and (b) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(xxi)	 According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company is not required to prepare consolidated financial 
statements. Accordingly, clause 3(xxi) of the Order is not applicable to the Company. 

For AMBALAL PATEL & CO 
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 
Firm’s Registration No.100305W

	 Sd/- 
Place: Ahmedabad	 CA NILAY R BHAVSAR  
Date: April 18, 2025	 (PARTNER) 
	 Membership No. 137932 

UDIN NO.: 25137932BMIIUM5026
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ANNEXURE B

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROL

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 
2013 

(Referred to paragraph 2(f) under the heading of “Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements” of our 
report of even date)

1.	 We have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporting of SBI Funds Internatinal (IFSC) Limited as at March 31st, 2025  
in conjunction with our audit of the Balance Sheet,Statement of Profit and Loss including the Statement of Other Comprehensive 
Income, Cash Flow Statement,Statement of Changes in Equity & notes forming part of financial statement. 

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

2.	 Management and Board of Directors are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls based on the essential 
components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (‘the 
Guidance Note’) issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (‘the ICAI’)”. These responsibilities include the design, 
implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and 
efficient conduct of its business, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and 
completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required by The Companies 
Act, 2013 (‘the Act’).

Auditor’s Responsibility

3.	 Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls over financial reporting based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note and the Standards on Auditing (‘the Standards’), issued by the ICAI 
and deemed to be prescribed under section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, 
both issued by the ICAI. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls over financial reporting was 
established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

4.	 Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial controls system 
over financial reporting and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls over financial reporting included 
obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, 
and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error.

5.	 We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the 
Company’s internal financial controls system over financial reporting. 

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting

6.	 Company’s internal financial control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. Company’s internal financial control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions 
of the assets of the Company (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation 
of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the 
Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide 
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company’s  
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper 
management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of 
any evaluation of the internal financial controls over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial 
control over financial reporting may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the 
policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

Opinion

7.	 In our opinion, Company has, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls system over financial reporting and 
such internal financial controls over financial reporting were operating effectively as at March 31st, 2025, based on the internal 
control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated 
in the Guidance Note issued by the ICAI.

For AMBALAL PATEL & CO 
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 
Firm’s Registration No.100305W

	 Sd/- 
Place: Ahmedabad	 CA NILAY R BHAVSAR 
Date: April 18, 2025	 (PARTNER) 
	 Membership No. 137932 

UDIN NO.: 25137932BMIIUM5026
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COMMENTS OF THE COMPTROLLER AND AUDITOR GENERAL OF INDIA UNDER SECTION 143(6)(b) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 
2013 ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF SBI FUNDS INTERNATIONAL (IFSC) LIMITED FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 

The preparation of financial statements of SBI Funds International (IFSC) Limited for the year ended 31 March 2025 in accordance 
with the financial reporting framework prescribed under the Companies Act, 2013 (Act) is the responsibility of the management of the 
company. The statutory auditor appointed by the Comptroller and Auditor General of India under section 139(5) of the Act is responsible 
for expressing opinion on the financial statements under section 143 of the Act based on independent audit in accordance with the 
standards on auditing prescribed under section 143(10) of the Act. This is stated to have been done by them vide their Audit Report 
dated 18 April 2025.

The assets under management through various schemes managed by SBI Funds International (IFSC) Limited are not reflected in its 
Balance Sheet, since these assets do not form part of the SBI Funds International (IFSC) Limited. Therefore, I do not look into operation 
of these schemes including decision making regarding acquisition, management and disposal of the assets managed by the SBI Funds 
International (IFSC) Limited and express no opinion on the soundness of the investments.

I, on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General of India, have conducted a supplementary audit of the financial statements of SBI 
Funds International (IFSC) Limited for the year ended 31 March 2025 under section 143(6)(a) of the Act. This supplementary audit has 
been carried out independently without access to the working papers of the statutory auditors and is limited primarily to inquiries of the 
statutory auditors and company personnel and a selective examination of some of the accounting records.

On the basis of my supplementary audit nothing significant has come to my knowledge which would give rise to any comment upon 
or supplement to statutory auditors’ report under section 143(6)(b) of the Act.

For and on the behalf of the  
Comptroller and Auditor General of India

 
Sd/- 

(Vijay Nanalal Kothari) 
Principal Director of Audit (Shipping), Mumbai

Place : Mumbai 
Date  : 09.06.2025
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BALANCE SHEET AS AT MARCH 31, 2025

Particulars Note Amounts in USD  Amounts in INR 

ASSETS
1 FINANCIAL ASSETS

(a) Cash and Cash Equivalents 2  1,81,640  1,55,45,006 
(b) Bank Balances other than (a) Above 3  20,85,475  17,84,77,870 
(c) Receivables   

(i) Trade Receivables 4  18,723  16,02,341 
(d) Investments 5  3,81,470  3,26,46,737 
(e) Other Financial assets 6  6,325  5,41,302 
SUB-TOTAL: FINANCIAL ASSETS  26,73,633  22,88,13,256 

2 NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
(a) Current Tax Assets 7  6,638  5,68,089 
(b) Property, Plant and Equipment 8  85,760  73,39,460 
(c) Other Non-Financial Assets 9  16,126  13,80,085 
SUB-TOTAL: NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS  1,08,524  92,87,634 
TOTAL ASSETS  27,82,157  23,81,00,890 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES

1 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
(a) Payables

Trade Payables 10
(i) Total outstanding dues of Micro Enterprises and Small 
Enterprises

 3,643  3,11,773 

(ii) Total outstanding dues of creditors other than Micro Enterprises 
and Small Enterprises

 50,601  43,30,504 

(b) Other financial liabilities 11  85,297  72,99,838 
SUB-TOTAL: FINANCIAL LIABILITIES  1,39,541  1,19,42,115 

2 NON-FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
(a) Provisions 12  42,558  36,42,174 
SUB-TOTAL: NON-FINANCIAL LIABILITIES  42,558  36,42,174 

3 EQUITY
(a) Share Capital 13  29,85,075  25,00,00,000 
(b) Other Equity 14  (3,85,017)  (2,74,83,399)
SUB-TOTAL: EQUITY  26,00,058  22,25,16,601 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  27,82,157  23,81,00,890 

Summary of Material Accounting Policies				              1
Other Notes to the Financial Statements				           2 - 34
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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As per our report of even date	    
 
For AMBALAL PATEL & CO.	 For and on behalf of  
Chartered Accountants	 SBI Funds International (IFSC) Limited
Firm Registration No: 100305W 
 
Sd/-	 Sd/-	 Sd/- 
Nilay Bhavsar	 Nand Kishore 	 D. P. Singh 
Partner	 Director	 Director 
Membership No: 137932	 DIN: 10237736	 DIN: 08778465 
		
	 Sd/-	 Sd/- 
	 Manish Makharia	 Santosh Sidiri 
	 Chief Executive Officer	 Company Secretary
		  (M No. A44988)

	 Sd/-	 Sd/-
Place: Mumbai	 Yashpal Sharma	 Inderjeet Ghuliani	  
Dated: 18th April 2025	 Chief Financial Officer	 Chief Financial Officer
		  SBI Funds Management Limited	  
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 07-02-2024 TO 31-03-2025		
	
 Particulars Note 

No.
 Amounts in USD  Amounts in INR 

I   Revenue from Operations:   

i) Management Fees 15  48,796  41,68,603 

ii) Net Gain/(Loss) on Fair Value Changes 16  (25,012)  (21,40,742)

I Total Revenue from Operations  23,784  20,27,861 

II Other Income 17  99,995  96,26,919 

III Total Income  (I + II)  1,23,779  1,16,54,780 

IV Expenses

i) Finance Cost  3,630  3,10,676 

ii) Scheme Expenses  23,798  20,60,117 

iii) Employee Benefit Expenses 18  2,92,366  2,50,16,060 

iv) Depreciation and Amortization Expense 8  10,038  8,56,490 

v) Other Expenses 19  1,78,964  1,51,88,944 

IV Total Expenses  5,08,796  4,34,32,287 

V Profit / (Loss) before Tax (III - IV)  (3,85,017)  (3,17,77,507)

VI Tax Expense: 20

- Current Tax  -    -   

- Deferred Tax  -    -   

VII Profit / (loss) for the period (V - VI)  (3,85,017)  (3,17,77,507)

VIII Other Comprehensive Income (OCI)

Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss :  

i) Foreign Currency Translation Reserve -  42,94,108 

IX Total Comprehensive Income for the period (VII + VIII)  (3,85,017)  (2,74,83,399)

X Profit (Loss) and other comprehensive income for the period)  (3,85,017)  (2,74,83,399)

XI Earnings Per Share (Face Value ₹10 per share)

Basic EPS
21

 -    (1.27)

Diluted EPS  -    (1.27)
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Summary of Material Accounting Policies				           1
Other Notes to the Financial Statements				        2 - 34
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

As per our report of even date	    
 
For AMBALAL PATEL & CO.	 For and on behalf of  
Chartered Accountants	 SBI Funds International (IFSC) Limited
Firm Registration No: 100305W 
 
Sd/-	 Sd/-	 Sd/- 
Nilay Bhavsar	 Nand Kishore 	 D. P. Singh 
Partner	 Director	 Director 
Membership No: 137932	 DIN: 10237736	 DIN: 08778465 
		
	 Sd/-	 Sd/- 
	 Manish Makharia	 Santosh Sidiri 
	 Chief Executive Officer	 Company Secretary
		  (M No. A44988)

	 Sd/-	 Sd/-
Place: Mumbai	 Yashpal Sharma	 Inderjeet Ghuliani	  
Dated: 18th April 2025	 Chief Financial Officer	 Chief Financial Officer
		  SBI Funds Management Limited
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 07-02-2024 TO 31-03-2025

Particulars  Amounts in USD  Amounts in INR 
Cash Flow from Operating Activities 	
   Net Profit Before Tax  (3,85,017)  (3,17,77,507)
Adjustments for:
   Depreciation and Amortization  10,038  8,56,490 
   Finance Cost  3,630  3,10,676 
   Foreign Exchange Fluctuations  -    36,85,085 
   Fair valuation (gain)/loss on Investment  25,181  21,54,912 
   (Gain)/Loss on sale/redemption of Investment  (169)  (14,170)
   Interest Income on Fixed Deposits  (13,907)  (11,91,508)
Operating profit before working capital changes  (3,60,244)  (2,59,76,022)
   Decrease / (Increase) in Other Bank Balances  (20,85,475)  (17,84,77,870)
   Decrease / (Increase) in Trade Receivables  (18,723)  (16,02,341)
   Decrease / (Increase) in Other Financial Assets  (6,325)  (5,41,302)
   Decrease / (Increase) in Other Non Financial Assets  (16,126)  (13,80,085)
   (Decrease) / Increase in  Trade Payable  54,244  46,42,277 
   (Decrease) / Increase in  Other Financial Liabilites  2,692  2,30,386 
   (Decrease) / Increase in  Non Financial Liabilities  42,558  36,42,174 
   Net Cash Generated from Operations  (23,87,399)  (19,94,62,783)
   Income Taxes Paid Net of Refund, if any  (6,638)  (5,68,089)
Net Cash Generated From Operating Activities  (A)  (23,94,037)  (20,00,30,872)

Cash Flow from Investing Activities 	
   Purchase of Property,Plant & Equipment and Other Intangible Assets  (7,194)  (6,04,073)
   Purchase of Investments  (4,15,543)  (3,49,46,702)
   Other Interest Income  13,907  11,91,508 
   Proceeds from Sale of Investments  9,062  7,59,299 
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (B)  (3,99,768)  (3,35,99,968)

Cash Flow from Financing Activities 
   Proceeds from issuance of share capital  29,85,075  25,00,00,000 
   Principal element of lease payments  (6,000)  (5,13,478)
   Interest element of lease payments  (3,630)  (3,10,676)
Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities  (C)  29,75,445  24,91,75,846 

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (D = A + B + C)  1,81,640  1,55,45,006 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR (E)  -    -   
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR (F = D + E)  1,81,640  1,55,45,006 

Cash and Cash Equivalents comprising of : 	
   In Deposits Accounts - Original Maturity of 3 months or less  1,70,400  9,61,935 
   Balance with Banks in Current Accounts  11,240  1,45,83,071 
Total  1,81,640  1,55,45,006 

Note : The above Statement of Cash Flows has been prepared under the ‘Indirect Method’ as set out in Ind AS 7.			 
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Summary of Material Accounting Policies				              1
Other Notes to the Financial Statements				           2 - 34

As per our report of even date	    
 
For AMBALAL PATEL & CO.	 For and on behalf of  
Chartered Accountants	 SBI Funds International (IFSC) Limited
Firm Registration No: 100305W 
 
Sd/-	 Sd/-	 Sd/- 
Nilay Bhavsar	 Nand Kishore 	 D. P. Singh 
Partner	 Director	 Director 
Membership No: 137932	 DIN: 10237736	 DIN: 08778465 
		
	 Sd/-	 Sd/- 
	 Manish Makharia	 Santosh Sidiri 
	 Chief Executive Officer	 Company Secretary
		  (M No. A44988)

	 Sd/-	 Sd/-
Place: Mumbai	 Yashpal Sharma	 Inderjeet Ghuliani	  
Dated: 18th April 2025	 Chief Financial Officer	 Chief Financial Officer
		  SBI Funds Management Limited
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a 	 Equity Share Capital: 	 (Amounts in INR)

Particulars Currency Balance as on  
1st April 2024

 Changes in 
Equity Share 

Capital during the 
year

Balance as on  
31st March 2025

2,50,00,000 Equity Shares of  ₹10 each, 
fully paid up

INR  -    25,00,00,000  25,00,00,000 

USD *  -    29,85,075  29,85,075 
(*) USD equivalent to INR 25 crores at USD/INR rate 83.75 was received on 8th July 2024

b 	 Other Equity: 	  (Amounts in USD) 

Particulars Reserves and Surplus
Total  

Other Equity
 Share 

Application 
Money 

Retained  
Earnings

 Foreign Currency 
Translation 

Reserve 
Opening Balance as on 07 February 
2024

 -    -    -    -   

Profit / (Loss) for the year  -    (3,85,017)  -    (3,85,017)

Additions during the year  29,85,075  -    -    29,85,075 

Utilised during the year (Shares Issued)  (29,85,075)  -    -    (29,85,075)

Changes during the year  -    (3,85,017)  -    (3,85,017)
Closing Balance as at 31 March 2025  -    (3,85,017)  -    (3,85,017)

 	 (Amounts in INR)

Particulars Reserves and Surplus
Total  

Other Equity
 Share 

Application 
Money 

Retained  
Earnings

 Foreign Currency 
Translation 

Reserve 
Opening Balance as on 07 February 
2024

 -    -    -    -   

Profit / (Loss) for the year  -    (3,17,77,507)  -    (3,17,77,507)

OCI - Foreign Currency Translation 
Reserve (FCTR)

 -    -    42,94,108  42,94,108 

Additions during the year  25,00,00,000  -    -    25,00,00,000 

Utilised during the year (Shares Issued)  (25,00,00,000)  -    -    (25,00,00,000)

Changes during the year  -    (3,17,77,507)  42,94,108  (2,74,83,399)
Closing Balance as at 31 March 2025  -    (3,17,77,507)  42,94,108  (2,74,83,399)

        Summary of Material Accounting Policies                       1
        Other Notes to the Financial Statements	                  2 - 34

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 07-02-2024 TO 31-03-2025
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As per our report of even date	    
 
For AMBALAL PATEL & CO.	 For and on behalf of  
Chartered Accountants	 SBI Funds International (IFSC) Limited
Firm Registration No: 100305W 
 
Sd/-	 Sd/-	 Sd/- 
Nilay Bhavsar	 Nand Kishore 	 D. P. Singh 
Partner	 Director	 Director 
Membership No: 137932	 DIN: 10237736	 DIN: 08778465 
		
	 Sd/-	 Sd/- 
	 Manish Makharia	 Santosh Sidiri 
	 Chief Executive Officer	 Company Secretary
		  (M No. A44988)

	 Sd/-	 Sd/-
Place: Mumbai	 Yashpal Sharma	 Inderjeet Ghuliani	  
Dated: 18th April 2025	 Chief Financial Officer	 Chief Financial Officer
		  SBI Funds Management Limited
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1	 Material Accounting Policies: 

	 Company Overview  

	 SBI Funds International (IFSC) Limited (“the Company”) was incorporated on 7th February 2024 with registered office at Unit no. 209, 
Signature building, 2nd Floor, Block 13B, Zone – 1 GIFT SEZ, Gandhinagar, 382355. The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary 
of SBI Funds Management Limited (“SBIFML”). The share capital was infused on 8th July 2024.

	 The IFSCA has granted certificate of registration dated June 27, 2024 to SBI Funds International (IFSC) Limited to carry out activities 
as a Fund Management Entity (Retail) vide registration number is IFSCA/FME/III/2022-23/010. The Company provides Investment 
Management Services for funds established in GIFT City and provides discretionary or non-discretionary portfolio management 
services to clients in GIFT City. The Company has taken over the existing fund management business of SBIFML (IFSC Branch) 
with effect from 12th August 2024.  

1.1.	 Basis of Preparation and Presentation :

	 a)	 Statement of Compliance

 		  The financial statements of SBI Funds International (IFSC) Limited have been prepared and presented on going concern basis 
and in accordance with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) as per the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 
2015 notified under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013, (‘the Act’) and other relevant provisions of the Act, as amended 
from time to time.

	 b)	 Presentation of Financial Statements

		  The first Financial Year of the Company is for the period 7th February 2024 to 31st March 2025. The Company presents its 
balance sheet in order of liquidity. An analysis regarding recovery or settlement within 12 months after the reporting date and 
more than 12 months after the reporting date is presented in the Notes to Accounts.

	 c)	 Functional and Presentation Currency

		  US Dollar (USD) is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company operates and hence, its functional 
as well as presentation currency. Additionally, the financial statements are also presented in Indian Rupees (INR) for compliance 
with income-tax and other statutory laws. 

	 d)	 Rounding off 

		  All amounts have been rounded-off up to two decimal places, unless otherwise specified.

	 e)	 Basis of Measurement

		  The Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following:

		  •	 Financial instruments that are measured at fair value (refer accounting policy regarding financial instruments)

		  • 	 Assets held for sale – measured at lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell

		  •	 Defined benefit plans – plan assets measured at fair value

		  Accounting policies have been consistently applied except where a newly issued accounting standard is initially adopted or a 
revision to an existing accounting standard requires a change in the accounting policy hitherto in use.

	 f)	 Measurement of Fair Values

		  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date.

		  The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes 
place either:

		  •	 In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

		  •	 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

		  The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Company.
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		  The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the 
asset or liability, assuming market participants act in their economic best interest.

		  A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset 
in its highest and best use. The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use 
of unobservable inputs.

		  All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the 
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as 
a whole:

	 •	 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access 
at the measurement date.

	 •	 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly; and

	 •	 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. This category includes all instruments for which the 
valuation technique includes inputs that are not observable, and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the 
instrument’s valuation.

	 g)	 Use of judgements, estimates and assumptions

		  The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with the recognition and measurement principles of Ind-AS requires 
the management to make estimates, judgements and assumptions. These estimates, judgements and assumptions affect 
application of accounting policies and the reported amount of assets, liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of financial statements and the reported amount of income and expenses for the periods presented.

		  In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying accounting policies 
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements are as below:

	 •	 Financial instruments – Fair values, risk management and impairment of financial assets.

	 •	 Estimates of useful lives and residual value of property, plant and equipment, and other intangible assets. 

	 •	 Obligation relating to employee benefits related to actuarial assumptions 

	 •	 Recognition and measurement of provisions and contingencies; key assumptions related to the likelihood and magnitude 
of an outflow of resources, if any

	 •	 Recognition of deferred tax assets/liabilities.

	 •	 Determination of lease term and discount rate for lease liabilities.

	 •	 Impairment test of non-financial assets - Key assumptions underlying recoverable amounts including the recoverability 
of expenditure on intangible assets.

		  The management believes that these estimates are prudent and reasonable and are based upon the management’s best 
knowledge of current events and actions as on the reporting date. Actual results could differ from these estimates and differences 
between actual results and estimates are recognised in the periods in which the results/actions are known or materialised. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised prospectively.

1.2.	 Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances

	 1.2.1.	 Reporting foreign currency transactions in the functional currency:

		  Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the 
transactions. Foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities are remeasured into the functional currency at 
the exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of 
such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end 
exchange rates are recognised in Statement of Profit or Loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items 
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that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into functional currency at the exchange rate when fair 
value is determined. The foreign exchange gain or loss arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value 
is recognised in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on the change in fair value of the item.

	 1.2.2.	 Translation to Group Presentation Currency, INR – Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

		  For the purposes of preparation of financial statements in INR, the assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented 
(i.e., including comparatives) shall be translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet; income and expenses 
for each Statement of Profit and Loss presented (i.e., including comparatives) shall be translated at exchange rates at the 
dates of the transactions; and all resulting exchange differences shall be recognised in other comprehensive income under 
Foreign Currency Translation Reserve (FCTR). 

1.3.	 Property, Plant and Equipment

	 1.3.1.	 Recognition and measurement

		  The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment shall be recognised as an asset if, and only if it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

		  All items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if 
any. Historical cost includes expenses directly attributable to the acquisition of an asset. Advances paid towards the acquisition 
of property and equipment and the cost of property and equipment not ready for use before the reporting date are disclosed 
separately in the property and equipment schedule. 

	 1.3.2.	 Subsequent Expenditure

		  Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to 
which it relates. All other expenditure is recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss as incurred.  

	 1.3.3.	 Depreciation

		  Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is recognised using Straight Line Method (SLM) to expense the cost less 
residual values over estimated useful lives as prescribed under Schedule II of Companies Act, 2013. Estimated useful lives 
of property, plant and equipment as stipulated under Schedule II of Companies Act, 2013 and adopted by management for 
various block of assets is as under:	

Assets Useful life (in years)
Computers – Servers and networks 6
Computers – End user devices, such as, desktops, laptops, etc. 3
Furniture and fixtures 10
Office Equipment (including Electrical Installation & Building Management systems) 5
Glow Sign Board 2
Vehicles 8

		  Depreciation on assets purchased or sold during the year is recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss on a pro-rata 
basis from the date of addition or, as the case may be, up to the date on which the asset is sold.

		  All fixed assets individually costing less than ₹5,000 are fully depreciated in the year of purchase/acquisition.

		  Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each financial year and changes, if any, are accounted 
prospectively.   

	 1.3.4.	 Derecognition

		  Carrying amount (net of accumulated depreciation) of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon its disposal or 
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gains or losses arising on 
such disposal is determined based on difference between net proceeds and carrying amount and such gains or losses are 
recognised in Statement of Profit and Loss.
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	 1.3.5.	 Capital Work in Progress

		  Projects under which property plant and equipment are not ready for their intended use are carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses, comprising direct cost, inclusive of taxes, duties, freight, and other incidental expenses.

1.4.	 Intangible Assets

	 1.4.1.	 Recognition and measurement

		  Intangible assets are measured at cost and recognised if it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are 
attributable to the asset will flow to the entity and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Intangible assets are initially 
measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment loss, if 
any. Initial cost of software implementation is capitalised and any subsequent maintenance cost or enhancement cost are 
expensed out to Statement of Profit and Loss unless it meets recognition criteria.  

		  Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Amortisation expense is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 
lives in the Statement of Profit and Loss. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. 

	 1.4.2.	 Useful lives of Intangible Assets

		  Estimated useful lives of the intangible assets adopted by management are as follows:

Description of assets Useful lives (In years) Method of depreciation/
amortization

Computer software 3 - 6 years SLM
Website development cost 3 years SLM
Copyright licenses 5 years SLM

	 1.4.3.	 De-recognition of Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets

		  Carrying amount (net of accumulated amortisation) of intangible asset is derecognised upon its disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gains or losses arising on such disposal 
is determined based on difference between net proceeds and carrying amount and such gains or losses are recognised in 
Statement of Profit and Loss. 

	 1.4.4.	 Intangible assets under development

		  The intangible assets under development includes cost of intangible assets that are not ready for their intended use less 
accumulated impairment losses (if any).

1.5.	 Financial Instruments 

	 1.5.1.	 Initial Recognition of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

		  The Company recognizes financial assets and financial liabilities when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. All financial assets and liabilities are recognized at fair value on initial recognition, except for trade receivables 
which are initially measured at transaction price.     

	 1.5.2.	 Subsequent Measurement of Financial Assets 

	 	 Financial assets carried at amortised cost

		  A financial asset is subsequently measured at amortised cost if it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold 
the asset in order to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates 
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding using effective interest 
rate.

		  Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
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		  A financial asset is subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if it is held within a business 
model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and the contractual 
terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on 
the principal amount outstanding.

	 	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

		  A financial asset which is not classified in any of the above categories are subsequently fair valued through profit or loss.

	 1.5.3.	 Derecognition of Financial Assets

		  The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or when it 
transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party.

	 1.5.4.	 Impairment of Financial Assets

		  In accordance with Ind AS 109, the Company uses ‘Expected Credit Loss’ (ECL) model, for evaluating impairment of financial 
assets other than those measured at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL). 

		  Expected credit losses are measured through a loss allowance at an amount equal to:

	 •	 The 12-months expected credit losses (expected credit losses that result from those default events on the financial 
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date); or 

	 •	 Full lifetime expected credit losses (expected credit losses that result from all possible default events over the life of the 
financial instrument) 

		  For trade receivables, the Company applies ‘simplified approach’ which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised 
from initial recognition of the receivables. The Company uses historical default rates to determine impairment loss on the 
portfolio of trade receivables. At every reporting date, these historical default rates are reviewed and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analysed.

		  For other assets, the Company uses 12-month ECL to provide for impairment loss where there is no significant increase in 
credit risk. If there is significant increase in credit risk full lifetime ECL is used.

	 1.5.5.	 Subsequent Measurement of Financial Liabilities

		  Financial liabilities are subsequently carried at amortized cost. For trade and other payables maturing within one year from 
the Balance Sheet date, the carrying amounts approximate fair value due to the short maturity of these instruments.

	 1.5.6.	 Derecognition of Financial Liabilities

		  The Company derecognizes financial liabilities when its obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. 

	 1.5.7.	 Equity instruments:

		  All equity investments in scope of Ind-AS 109 are measured at fair value. Equity instruments which are held for trading are 
classified as at FVTPL. For all other equity instruments, the Company decides to classify the same either as at FVTOCI 
or FVTPL. The Company makes such election on an instrument-by instrument basis. The classification is made on initial 
recognition and is irrevocable. If the Company decides to classify an equity instrument as at FVTOCI, then all fair value 
changes on the instrument, excluding dividends, are recognized in the OCI. There is no recycling of the amounts from OCI 
to Statement of Profit and Loss, even on sale of investment. However, the Company may transfer the cumulative gain or loss 
within equity.

		  Equity instruments included within the FVTPL category are measured at fair value with all changes recognized in the Statement 
of Profit and Loss.

	 1.5.8.	 Offsetting of Financial Instruments

		  Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the Balance Sheet if there is a currently 
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets 
and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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1.6.	 Impairment of non-financial assets 

	 The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at each Balance Sheet date if there is any indication of impairment 
based on internal/external factors. An asset is treated impaired when the carrying cost of an asset or cash-generating unit’s (CGU) 
exceeds its recoverable value.

	 The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. The recoverable amount is the greater of the asset’s or CGU’s fair value 
less costs of disposal and its value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are considered.

	 If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. After impairment, depreciation is provided on the 
revised carrying amount of the asset over its remaining useful life. An impairment loss, if any, is charged to Statement of Profit and 
Loss Account in the year in which an asset is identified as impaired. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if 
there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was 
recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in 
prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the statement of profit or loss unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which 
case, the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

1.7.	 Leases

	 The Company as a lessee: 

	 The Company’s lease asset classes primarily consist of leases for office on lease and other assets. The Company assesses whether 
a contract contains a lease, at inception of a contract. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control 
the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right 
to control the use of an identified asset, the Company assesses whether: (i) The contract involves the use of an identified asset; 
(ii) the Company has substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset through the period of the lease and; (iii) the 
Company has the right to direct the use of the asset. At the date of commencement of the lease, the Company recognizes a right-
of-use asset (“ROU”) and a corresponding lease liability for all lease arrangements in which it is a lessee, except for leases with a 
term of twelve months or less (short-term leases) and low value leases. For these short-term and low value leases, the Company 
recognizes the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

	 Certain lease arrangements include the options to extend or terminate the lease before the end of the lease term. ROU assets and 
lease liabilities includes these options when it is reasonably certain that they will be exercised. The right-of-use assets are initially 
recognized at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or prior to the 
commencement date of the lease plus any initial direct costs less any lease incentives. They are subsequently measured at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Right-of-use assets are depreciated from the commencement date on a 
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. Right of use assets are evaluated for 
recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. For the 
purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less cost to sell and the value-in-use) is 
determined on an individual asset basis unless the asset does not generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from 
other assets. 

	 The lease liability is initially measured at amortized cost at the present value of the future lease payments. The lease payments 
are discounted using the incremental borrowing rate. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to 
reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made.

	 Lease liabilities are remeasured with a corresponding adjustment to the related right of use asset if the Company changes its 
assessment if whether it will exercise an extension or a termination option. Lease liability and ROU asset have been separately 
presented in the Balance Sheet and lease payments have been classified as financing cash flows. 
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1.8.	 Cash and Cash Equivalents

	 Cash and Cash Equivalents include cash in hand, bank balances, call deposits and other short-term, highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of change in value.

1.9.	 Provisions, Contingent Liability and Contingent Asset 

	 Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past events, it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation. The expenses relating to a provision is presented in the Statement of Profit and Loss 
net of any reimbursement.

	 Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the present value is pre-tax rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risk specified to the liability. The increase in provision due to passage of 
time is recognised as finance cost.

	 When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable 
is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received, and the amount of the receivable can be 
measured reliably.

	 A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or 
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond the control of the entity or a present obligation that is not recognised 
because it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation. A contingent liability also arises in 
extremely rare cases where there is a liability that cannot be recognised because it cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. 
The Company does not recognize a contingent liability but discloses its existence in the financial statements unless the possibility 
of an outflow of economic resources is considered remote. 

	 Contingent Liabilities in respect of show cause notices are considered only when converted into demands. Loss contingencies 
arising from claims, litigation, assessment, fines, penalties, etc. are recorded when it is probable that a liability has been incurred 
and the amount can be reasonably estimated.

	 A contingent asset is not recognised but disclosed in the financial statements where an inflow of economic benefit is probable.

	 Capital commitments includes the amount of purchase order (net of advance) issued to counterparties for supplying/ development 
of assets and other commitment represent the amounts pertaining to investments which have been committed but not called for.

	 Provisions, contingent assets contingent liabilities and commitments are reviewed at each balance sheet date.

1.10.	Revenue Recognition

	 The Company recognizes revenue from contracts with customers based on a five-step model as set out in Ind AS 115 to determine 
when to recognize revenue and at what amount. The following five-step approach is applied for recognition of revenue:

	 -	 Identification of contract(s) with customer

	 -	 Identification of separate performance obligation in the contract

	 -	 Determination of transaction price

	 -	 Allocation of transaction price to the separate performance obligation, and

	 -	 Recognition of revenue when (or as) each performance obligation is satisfied.

	 Revenue is recognised when amount of revenue can be reliably measured and it is probable that future economic benefits will flow 
to the entity, regardless of when payment is being made.

	 The Company receives management fees from funds in Gift City which is charged as a percentage of the Assets Under Management 
(AUM) in accordance with the Fund’s Offer Documents and is recognised on accrual basis. 
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1.11.	Other Income

	 (a)	 Dividend income: Dividend income from investments is recognised when the right to receive payment has been established. 

	 (b)	 Interest income: Interest income on fixed deposits accrues on time basis determined by the amount outstanding and the rate 
applicable.

1.12.	Scheme Expenses 

	 Expenses relating to new fund offer are charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss in the year in which they are incurred. Expenses 
incurred by funds in excess of Maximum Fund Expenses as defined in the Fund’s Offer Documents are borne by the Fund Management 
Entity. 

1.13.	Employee benefits 

	 (a)	 Defined Contribution Plan - Provident Fund  

		  The Company has defined contribution plans for post-employment benefits in the form of Provident Fund. Under the Provident 
Fund plan, the Company contributes to Government administered Provident Fund on behalf of employees.  The Company has 
no further obligation beyond making the contribution. The Company’s contribution to Government Provident Fund is charged 
to the Statement of Profit and Loss.

	 (b)	 National Pension Scheme/system (NPS)

		  NPS is a defined contribution scheme. In case employee opts for NPS, the Company contributes a sum not exceeding 10% of 
basic salary plus dearness pay of the eligible employees’ salary to the NPS. The Company recognizes such contribution as an 
expense as and when incurred.

	 (c)	 Defined Benefit Plan – Gratuity

		  Gratuity liability is a defined benefit obligation and is funded through a Gratuity Fund (established by SBI Funds Management 
Limited – Head Office) administered by trustees and managed by the Life Insurance Corporation of India. The Company accounts 
for liability for future gratuity benefits based on the actuarial valuation using Projected Unit Credit Method carried out as at the 
end of each financial year. Actuarial gains and losses are immediately recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss. 

		  Gratuity liabilities are determined by actuarial valuation, performed by an independent actuary, at each reporting date using the 
projected unit credit method. The Company recognizes the net obligation of a defined benefit plan in its balance sheet as an 
asset or liability, as the case may be. The discount rate is based on the government securities yield. Actuarial gains and losses 
arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recorded in Other Comprehensive Income in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which they arise.

	 (d)	 Other Long-term employee benefit obligation

		  All eligible employees of the Company are eligible for the encashment of leave or leave with pay subject to certain rules, long 
term service awards and retirement gift on attaining the superannuation. The cost of providing other long-term benefits is 
determined based on independent actuarial valuation carried out as at the end of each financial year.
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1.14.	Income Taxes

	 Income tax expense comprises current tax expense and the net change in the deferred tax asset or liability during the year. Current 
and deferred taxes are recognised in Statement of Profit and Loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income or directly in Equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in Other Comprehensive 
Income or directly in Equity, respectively.

	 (a)	 Current Tax

		  Current income tax for current and prior period is recognised at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted at the end of reporting period. 
Current income taxes are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss except for items those are recognised outside profit 
or loss, either in Other Comprehensive Income or in Equity, where the related tax for such items are recognised either in Other 
Comprehensive Income or in Equity respectively.

		  Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are offset only if there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts 
and it is intended either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  

	 (b)	 Deferred Tax

		  Deferred tax is recognized using the balance sheet approach in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred 
tax is also recognised in respect of carried forward tax losses and tax credits, if any. 

		  Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset 
is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

		  Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they 
can be used. The existence of unused tax losses is strong evidence that future taxable profit may not be available. Therefore, in 
case of losses, the Company recognises a deferred tax asset only to the extent that it has sufficient taxable temporary differences 
or there is other convincing evidence that sufficient taxable profit will be available against which such deferred tax asset can be 
realised. Deferred tax assets – unrecognised or recognised, are reviewed at each reporting date and are recognised/reduced 
to the extent that it is probable/no longer probable respectively that the related tax benefit will be realised.

1.15.	Earnings Per Share

	 The basic earnings per share is computed by dividing profit after tax attributable to the equity shareholders by the weighted average 
number of Equity shares outstanding during the reporting period.

	 Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue equity shares were 
exercised or converted during the period/year. Diluted earnings per share is computed using the weighted average number of equity 
shares and dilutive potential equity shares outstanding at the year end.
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2.	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS	

Particulars  Amounts in USD  Amounts in INR 
Cash and Cash Equivalents   

Balance with Bank in USD Account ^  5,047  4,31,929 

Balance with Bank in SNRR Account #^  6,193  5,30,006 

Fixed Deposits (including accrued interest)*^  1,70,400  1,45,83,071 

Total  1,81,640  1,55,45,006 
(*) Original maturity of 3 months or less.

	 (^) Refer Note no.27 for Related Party Disclosures.
	 (#) SNRR refers to Special Non-Resident Rupee Account.

3.	 Bank Balances other than (a) Above

Particulars  Amounts in USD  Amounts in INR 
Fixed Deposits (including accrued interest) #^  20,85,475  17,84,77,870 

Total  20,85,475  17,84,77,870 
(#) Original maturity of more than 3 months.

	 (^) Refer Note no.27 for Related Party Disclosures.

4.	 Trade Receivables

Particulars  Amounts in USD  Amounts in INR 
a. Receivables considered good - Secured  -    -   

b. Receivables considered good - Unsecured

    (i) Management & Performance Fees Receivable  18,723  16,02,341 

c. Receivables which have significant increase in credit risk  -    -   

d. Receivables – credit impaired  -    -   

Total  18,723  16,02,341 

	 Loss Allowance 

Particulars  Amounts in USD  Amounts in INR 
a. Receivables considered good - Secured  -    -   

b. Receivables considered good - Unsecured

   (i) Management Fees Receivable  -    -   

c. Receivables which have significant increase in credit risk  -    -   

d. Receivables – credit impaired  -    -   

Total  -    -   
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	 Net Amount (Trade Receivable) 

Particulars  Amounts in USD  Amounts in INR 
a. Receivables considered good - Secured  -    -   

b. Receivables considered good - Unsecured

    (i) Management Fees Receivable  18,723  16,02,341 

c. Receivables which have significant increase in credit risk  -    -   

d. Receivables – credit impaired  -    -   

Total  18,723  16,02,341 

	
Particulars  Amounts in USD  Amounts in INR 
Receivables considered good - Unsecured
Undisputed   

 - Unbilled  -    -   

 - Billed but not due  -    -   

 - Billed and due  18,723  16,02,341 

Disputed  -    -   

Total  18,723  16,02,341 

Particulars  Amounts in USD  Amounts in INR 
Trade Receivables - Ageing Schedule
Unsecured, considered good & undisputed   

Unbilled  -    -   

Billed and due 

 - Less than 6 Months  18,723  16,02,341 

 - 6 months - 1 year  -    -   

 - 1-2 years  -    -   

 - 2-3 years  -    -   

 - More than 3 years  -    -   

Disputed  -    -   

Total  18,723  16,02,341 
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5.	 Investments

 Amounts in USD

  Amortised 
Cost 

 FVOCI*  FVTPL**  Others  Total 

Alternative Investment Funds
FME Contribution in SBI Investment 
Opportunities Fund (IFSC)

 -    -    3,81,470  -    3,81,470 

Total – Gross (A)  -    -    3,81,470  -    3,81,470 
(i) Overseas Investments  -    -    -    -    -   
(ii) Investments in India  -    -    3,81,470  -    3,81,470 
Less: Impairment loss allowance (B)  -    -    -    -    -   
Total: (C) = (A) - (B)  -    -    3,81,470  -    3,81,470 

 Amounts in INR

  Amortised 
Cost 

 FVOCI*  FVTPL**  Others  Total 

Alternative Investment Funds

FME Contribution in SBI Investment 
Opportunities Fund (IFSC)

 -    -    3,26,46,737  -    3,26,46,737 

Total – Gross (A)  -    -    3,26,46,737  -    3,26,46,737 

(i) Overseas Investments  -    -    -    -    -   

(ii) Investments in India  -    -    3,26,46,737  -    3,26,46,737 

Less: Impairment loss allowance (B)  -    -    -    -    -   

Total: (C) = (A) - (B)  -    -    3,26,46,737  -    3,26,46,737 

	 * FVOCI : Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income
	 ** FVTPL : Fair Value through Profit & Loss Account

6.	 Other Financial Assets

Particulars  Amounts in USD  Amounts in INR 
Security Deposits  6,325  5,41,302 

Total  6,325  5,41,302 

7.	 Current Tax Assets

Particulars  Amounts in USD  Amounts in INR 
TDS/TCS Receivable  6,638  5,68,089 

Total  6,638  5,68,089 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH 2025
8.	 Property, Plant and Equipment

8.1	 Property, Plant and Equipment - As at 31 March 2025		  (Amounts in USD)

Particulars

Gross Block (At Cost) Accumulated Depreciation Net Block

As at 
07/02/2024

Additions 
for the year

Deductions/ 
Adjustments 
for the year

As at 
31/03/2025

Up to  
07/02/2024

For the 
Year

Deductions/ 
Adjustments 
for the year

Up to 
31/03/2025

As at 
31/03/2025

Furniture and Fixtures  -    815  -    815  -    684  -    684  131 
Office Equipment  -    1,299  -    1,299  -    165  -    165  1,134 
Electrical Fittings  -    1  -    1  -    1  -    1  -   
Computers  -    1,179  -    1,179  -    250  -    250  929 
Leasehold Improvements  -    3,900  -    3,900  -    496  -    496  3,404 
Right of Use Asset (ROU)  -    88,604  -    88,604  -    8,442  -    8,442  80,162 
Total Tangible Assets  -    95,798  -    95,798  -    10,038  -    10,038  85,760 

8.2	 Property, Plant and Equipment - As at 31 March 2025		  (Amounts in INR)

Particulars

Gross Block (At Cost) Accumulated Depreciation Net Block

 As at 
07/02/2024 

 Additions 
for the year 

 Deductions/ 
Adjustments 
for the year 

 As at 
31/03/2025 

Up to  
07/02/2024 

 For the 
Year 

 Deductions/ 
Adjustments 
for the year** 

 Up to 
31/03/2025 

 As at 
31/03/2025 

Furniture and Fixtures  -    68,426  -    68,426  -    57,435  220  57,215  11,211 
Office Equipment  -    1,09,084  -    1,09,084  -    13,874  1,839  12,035  97,049 
Electrical Fittings  -    76  -    76  -    76  -    76  -   
Computers  -    99,008  -    99,008  -    20,984  1,481  19,503  79,505 
Leasehold Improvements  -    3,27,479  -    3,27,479  -    41,630  5,470  36,160  2,91,319 
Right of Use Asset (ROU)  -    74,31,337  -    74,31,337  -    7,22,491  1,51,530  5,70,961  68,60,376 
Total Tangible Assets  -    80,35,410  -    80,35,410  -    8,56,490  1,60,540  6,95,950  73,39,460 

	 (**) Adjustment of exchange gain on account of translation of Fixed Assets at exchange rate on 31.03.2025

9.	 Other Non-Financial Assets	

Particulars  Amounts in USD  Amounts in INR 
Prepaid Expenses  13,664  11,69,384 
Deferred Rental on Security Deposits  2,462  2,10,701 
Total  16,126  13,80,085 

10.	 Trade Payables	

Particulars  Amounts in USD  Amounts in INR 
a.  Total outstanding dues of Micro Enterprises and Small Enterprises  3,643  3,11,773 
b.  Total outstanding dues of creditors other than Micro Enterprises and Small  
     Enterprises^

 50,601  43,30,504 

Total  54,244  46,42,277 

	 (^) Refer Note no.27  for Related Party Disclosures.
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Particulars  Amounts in USD  Amounts in INR 
Trade Payables - Others
Undisputed   
 - Unbilled  14,948  12,79,253 
 - Billed not due for payment  -    -   
 - Billed and due for payment  39,296  33,63,024 
Disputed  -    -   
Total  54,244  46,42,277 

Particulars  Amounts in USD  Amounts in INR 
Trade Payables - Ageing Schedule: Undisputed - Others
Unbilled  14,948  12,79,253 
Billed and due 
 - Less than 1 year  39,296  33,63,024 
Disputed - Others  -    -   
Total  54,244  46,42,277 

11.	 Other Financial Liabilities	

Particulars  Amounts in USD  Amounts in INR 
Other Payables ^  376  32,179 
Lease Liabilities  82,605  70,69,452 
TDS Payable  2,316  1,98,207 
Total  85,297  72,99,838 

	 (^) Refer Note no.27  for Related Party Disclosures.

12.	 Provision	

Particulars  Amounts in USD  Amounts in INR 
Provision for Expenses  3,751  3,21,016 
Provsion for Gratuity  13,555  11,60,056 
Provision for Staff Payable  25,252  21,61,102 
Total  42,558  36,42,174 

13.	 Equity Share Capital	

Particulars  Amounts in USD  Amounts in INR 
Authorised   
5,00,00,000 Equity Shares of ₹ 10 each  -  50,00,00,000 
Issued, Subscribed and Paid Up   
2,50,00,000 Equity Shares of ₹ 10 each *  29,85,075  25,00,00,000 
Issued, Subscribed and Paid Up Share Capital  29,85,075  25,00,00,000 

	 (*) USD equivalent to INR 25 crores at USD/INR rate 83.75 was received on 8th July 2024

13.1	 Details of Shareholding as at 31st March 2025: 
	 Equity Shares held by: 
	 2,50,00,000 shares are held by SBI Funds Management Limited (Holding Company). 
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13.2	 Reconciliation of the number of Equity Shares outstanding: 	

Particulars  As at 31-Mar-2025 
 Number of Shares at the beginning of the year  -   
 Add: Shares issued  2,50,00,000 
 Number of Shares at the end of the year  2,50,00,000 

13.3	 Each Equity Share is entitled to one voting right only.

13.4	 Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares as at 31st March 2025 	

Particulars  No. of Shares   % of Holding  
 SBI Funds Management Limited  2,50,00,000 100%

14.	 Reserves & Surplus
	 a. 	 Retained Earnings	

Particulars  Amounts in USD  Amounts in INR 
Balance at the beginning of the year  -    -   
Add: Profit/(loss) for the year  (3,85,017)  (3,17,77,507)
Balance as on 31-Mar-2025  (3,85,017)  (3,17,77,507)

	 b. 	 Foreign Currency Translation Reserve (FCTR)

Particulars  Amounts in USD  Amounts in INR 
Balance at the beginning of the year  -    -   
Add: FCTR for the period  -    42,94,108 
Balance as on 31-Mar-2025  -    42,94,108 
Total (a + b)  (3,85,017)  (2,74,83,399)

15.	 Revenue from Operations	

Particulars  Amounts in USD  Amounts in INR 
Management Fees  48,796  41,68,603 
Total  48,796  41,68,603 

16.	 Net Gain/(Loss) on Fair Value Changes	

Particulars  Amounts in USD  Amounts in INR 
Net gain / (loss) on financial Instruments at Fair Value through Profit or Loss  (25,012)  (21,40,742)
Total  (25,012)  (21,40,742)
Fair value changes:  
Realised  169  14,170 
Unrealised  (25,181)  (21,54,912)
Total net gain on fair value changes  (25,012)  (21,40,742)
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17.	 Other Income	

Particulars  Amounts in USD  Amounts in INR 
Interest Income on Fixed Deposits ^  99,782  85,40,803 
Interest Income on Security Deposits  213  18,249 
Foreign Exchange Gain (net)  -    10,67,867 
Total  99,995  96,26,919 

	 (^) Refer Note no.27  for Related Party Disclosures.

18.	 Employee Benefit Expenses	

Particulars  Amounts in USD  Amounts in INR 
Salaries and allowances ^  2,78,811  2,38,56,038 
Gratuity  13,555  11,60,022 
Total  2,92,366  2,50,16,060 

	 (^) Refer Note no.27  for Related Party Disclosures.

19.	 Other Expenses ^	

Particulars  Amounts in USD  Amounts in INR 
Investment Advisory Fees  4,690  3,99,677 
Administrative Support Charges  4,486  3,82,258 
Pre-Incorporation Expenses  52,372  44,43,363 
Rent, Taxes and Energy Cost  743  68,715 
Software and IT cost  18,894  16,20,279 
Repairs and Maintenance  3,869  3,32,309 
Travelling and Conveyance  14,020  12,04,047 
Printing and Stationery  399  34,357 
Postage and Courier  303  26,210 
Communication Cost  603  51,712 
Directors' Sitting Fees  5,858  5,00,000 
Rates & Taxes  4,472  3,81,091 
Legal and Professional Fees  63,580  54,34,264 
Auditor's remuneration:
- Audit fees  1,168  1,00,000 
- Certification & other assurance fees  -    -   
Foreign Exchange Loss (net)  1,037  -   
Bank Charges  1,392  1,19,119 
Miscellaneous Expenses  1,078  91,543 
Total  1,78,964  1,51,88,944 

	 (^) Refer Note no.27  for Related Party Disclosures.
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20.  	Tax Expense

	 The Company, being a unit of IFSC, is eligible for deduction under section 80LA of the Income-tax Act, 1961 in respect of 100% of 
income for any 10 consecutive assessment years, at the option of the Company, out of 15 years, beginning with the year in which 
the permission or registration under International Financial Serivces Centres Authority (IFSCA) Act, 2019 was obtained. 

	 The IFSCA has granted certificate of registration dated 27th June 2024 to the Company to carry out Fund Management activities. 
Being the first year of operations of the Company, the Company has incurred losses and has not opted for deduction under section 
80LA of the Income-tax Act, 1961. Hence, the Company has not recognised tax expense for the current financial year.	

21.	 Earnings Per Share (EPS) 	
Particulars Amounts in INR*
Net Profit / (Loss) attributable to Equity Shareholders (A)  (3,17,77,507)

Weighted Average Number of Shares (Nos.) (B)  2,50,00,000 

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share (A/B)  (1.27)

Nominal Value per Share  10.00 

	 * The Face Value of equity shares is ₹10 per share, hence, EPS is calculated in INR. 

	 The Company does not have any potential equity shares and, accordingly, the Basic and Diluted EPS are the same. 

22. 	 Contingent Liabilities & Capital Commitments

Particulars Amounts in USD Amounts in INR
A. Contingent Liabilities   
     Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debts  -    -   
B. Capital & Other Commitments   
     Contracts remaining to be executed on capital account  22,526  19,27,800 
Total (A+B)  22,526  19,27,800 

23. Leases (As a lessee)
(i) 	 Amounts recognised in the Balance Sheet		
	 The following shows the changes to carrying value relating to right-to-use assets:

Particulars Amounts in USD Amounts in INR
Opening balance of Right-of-use assets  -    -   
Add: Additions during the year  88,604  74,31,337 
Less: Deletion during the year  -    -   
Less: Depreciation during the year  (8,442)  (7,22,491)
Add/Less: Adjustment of exchange fluctuations (FCTR)  -    1,51,530 
Closing balance of Right-of-use assets  80,162  68,60,376 

	 The following shows the movement to lease liabilities during the year:		

Particulars Amounts in USD Amounts in INR
Opening balance of Lease Liabilities  -    -   
Add: New Lease arrangements  88,605  74,31,337 
Less: Deletion  -    -   
Add/Less: Adjustment of exchange fluctuations (FCTR)  -    1,51,593 
Add: Finance cost accrued  3,630  3,10,676 
Less: Payment of Lease liabilities  (9,630)  (8,24,154)
Closing balance of Lease Liabilities  82,605  70,69,452 
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	 The following is the break up of current and non-current lease liabilities:				 

Particulars Amounts in USD Amounts in INR
Current  13,241  11,33,151 
Non-current  69,364  59,36,301 
Total  82,605  70,69,452 

	 The table below provides details regarding the contractual maturities of lease liabilities on an undiscounted basis: 

Particulars Amounts in USD Amounts in INR
Less than one year  17,036  14,58,000 
One to five years  73,489  62,89,266 
More than five years  8,083  6,91,760 
Total  98,608  84,39,026 

(ii)  	Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss			 
	 The statement of profit or loss shows the following amounts relating to leases for the FY 2024-25:	

Particulars Amounts in USD Amounts in INR
Depreciation charge on right-of-use assets  8,442  7,22,491 
Interest expense (included in finance cost)  3,630  3,10,676 
Expense relating to short-term leases (included administrative expenses)  -    -   
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets that are not shown above as short-term 
leases (included in administrative expenses)

 -    -   

Expense relating to variable lease payments not included in lease liabilities (included in 
administrative expenses)

 -    -   

Rent concession  -    -   

24.	 Employee Benefit Plans
	 All employees of the Company are on deputation from SBI Funds Management Limited. The defined contribution benefits (Provident 

Fund and National Pension Scheme), gratuity, leave encashment and other long term employee benefits are incurred by SBI Funds 
Management Limited and reimbursed by the Company.		

	 Gratuity liability is a defined benefit obligation and is funded through a Gratuity Fund (established by SBI Funds Management 
Limited) administered by trustees and managed by the Life Insurance Corporation of India. The Company has made a provision for 
incremental cost, based on actuarial valuation report provided by SBI Funds Management Limited:	 	

Particulars  Amounts in USD  Amounts in INR 
Gratuity Cost  13,555  11,60,022 

25. 	 Segmental Reporting
	 Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Chief Operating Decision 

Maker (CODM). The CODM’s function is to allocate the resources of the Company and assess the performance of the operating 
segments of the Company. The Company provides Investment Management Services for funds established in GIFT City. As such, 
the Company’s financial statements are largely reflective of the asset management business and there is no separate reportable 
segment. All assets of the Company are domiciled in India.

	 There is only one customer contributing in excess of 10% of the total revenue of the Company, details are provided below:

Particulars  Amounts in USD  Amounts in INR 
Revenue from SBI Investment Opportunities Fund (IFSC)  48,796  41,68,603 

26. Capital Management
	 Equity share capital and other equity are considered for the purpose of Company’s capital management. The Company manages its 

capital in a manner which enables it to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern and to optimise returns to the shareholders.
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27.  	Related Party Disclosure:  
	 (i) List of related parties:	

Holding Company SBI Funds Management Limited			 

Ultimate Holding Company State Bank of India			

Directors

- Associate Directors Mr. Nand Kishore (DIN: 10237736) from 27-11-2024
Mr. Shamsher Singh (DIN: 09787674) from 07-02-2024 to 22-11-2024
Mr. Devinder Pal Singh (DIN: 08778465) from 07-02-2024
Mr. Inderjeet Ghuliani (DIN: 10496809) from 07-02-2024 to 31-05-2024

- Independent Directors Mr. Navdeep Singh Suri (DIN: 08775385) from 30-5-2025
Mr. Krishnamurthy Vijayan (DIN: 00589406) from 30-5-2025

Key Managerial Personnel Mr. Manish Vinod Makharia, Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Yashpal Sharma, Chief Financial Officer			 
Mr. Santosh Sidiri, Company Secretary

	 (ii) List of transactions with related parties during FY 2024-25:	 (Amounts in USD)

Nature of Transaction Holding Company Ultimate Holding 
Company

Directors

Income:
- Interest on Fixed Deposits  -    99,782  -   
Expenses:
- Administrative Support Charges  4,486  -    -   
- Investment Advisory Fees  4,690  -    -   
- Bank Charges  -    1,392  -   
- Directors' Sitting Fees  -    -    5,858 
- Reimbursement of Expenses (pre-incorporation expenses, 
salaries of deputed staff, office rent, travel & conveyance, etc.)

 3,35,136  -    -   

Other Transactions:
- Infusion of Share Capital  29,85,075 
- Purchase of Assets (Sponsor contribution in AIF, Fixed Assets 
and other assets)

 3,79,672  -    -   

Balances Outstanding as at 31 Mar 2025:
- Balance in Current Account (USD)  -    5,047  -   
- Balance in Current Account (SNRR)  -    6,193  -   
- Fixed Deposits (including accrued interest)  -    22,55,875  -   
- Payables  38,929  376  -   



SBI FUNDS INTERNATIONAL (IFSC) LIMITED

53

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH 2025

(Amounts in INR)

Nature of Transaction Holding Company Ultimate Holding 
Company

Directors

Income:
- Interest on Fixed Deposits  -    85,40,803  -   
Expenses:
- Administrative Support Charges  3,82,258  -    -   
- Investment Advisory Fees  3,99,677  -    -   
- Bank Charges  -    1,19,119  -   
- Directors' Sitting Fees  -    -    5,00,000 
- Reimbursement of Expenses (pre-incorporation expenses, 
salaries of deputed staff, office rent, travel & conveyance, etc.)

 2,86,41,203  -    -   

Other Transactions:
- Infusion of Share Capital  25,00,00,000  -    -   
- Purchase of Assets (Sponsor contribution in AIF, Fixed Assets 
and other assets)

 3,17,01,702  -    -   

Balances Outstanding as at 31 Mar 2025:
- Balance in Current Account (USD)  -    4,31,929  -   
- Balance in Current Account (SNRR)  -    5,30,006  -   
- Fixed Deposits (including accrued interest)  -    19,30,60,941  -   
- Payables  33,31,557  32,179  -   

Remuneration of Key Managerial Personnel: Amounts in USD Amounts in INR

Salaries and Allowances	  1,81,293  1,55,12,270 

28. 	 Financial Instruments 

A. 	 Classification and Fair Values of Financial Assets & Liabilities:		  (Amounts in USD)

As at 31 Mar 2025

Carrying Amount Fair Value

FVTPL Amortised 
Cost Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial Assets    
Cash & Cash Equivalents #  -    1,81,640  1,81,640  -    -    -    -   
Other Bank Balances #  -    20,85,475  20,85,475  -    -    -    -   
Trade Receivables #  -    18,723  18,723  -    -    -    -   
Investment in Alternative Investment Fund  3,81,470  -    3,81,470  -    -    3,81,470  3,81,470 
Other Financial Assets #  -    6,325  6,325  -    -    -    -   
Total  3,81,470  22,92,163  26,73,633  -    -    3,81,470  3,81,470 
Financial Liabilities
Trade payables #  -    54,244  54,244  -    -    -    -   
Lease liabilities #  -    82,605  82,605  -    -    -    -   
Other Financial Liabilities #  -    2,692  2,692  -    -    -    -   
Total  -    1,39,541  1,39,541  -    -    -    -   
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(Amounts in INR)

As at 31 Mar 2025

Carrying Amount Fair Value

FVTPL Amortised 
Cost Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial Assets    
Cash & Cash Equivalents #  -    1,55,45,006  1,55,45,006  -    -    -    -   
Other Bank Balances #  -   17,84,77,870 17,84,77,870  -    -    -    -   
Trade Receivables #  -    16,02,341  16,02,341  -    -    -    -   
Investment in Alternative Investment Fund  3,26,46,737  -    3,26,46,737  -    -    3,26,46,737  3,26,46,737 
Other Financial Assets #  -    5,41,302  5,41,302  -    -    -    -   
Total  3,26,46,737 19,61,66,519 22,88,13,256  -    -    3,26,46,737  3,26,46,737 
Financial Liabilities
Trade payables #  -    46,42,277  46,42,277  -    -    -    -   
Lease liabilities #  -    70,69,452  70,69,452  -    -    -    -   
Other Financial Liabilities #  -    2,30,386  2,30,386  -    -    -    -   
Total  -    1,19,42,115  1,19,42,115  -    -    -    -   

	 (#) Fair value of cash and cash equivalents, bank balances, trade receivables, other financial assets, trade payables and other 
financial liabilities approximate their carrying amounts largely due to current maturities of these instruments. Accordingly, fair value 
hierarchy for these financial instruments have not been presented above.

	 Valuation inputs and relationship to fair value
	 The following table summarises the quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs used in Level 3 fair value 

measurement:

Financial instruments Significant 
unobservable inputs

Probability weights/ 
range

Sensitivity of inputs to fair value 
measurement

Alternative Investment 
Funds

Net Asset Value (NAV) 0.90X -1.10X A 10% increase in the NAV would increase 
the carrying value of investment by USD 
38,147 (₹ 32.65 Lakhs). A 10% decrease 
in the NAV would decrease the carrying 
value of investment by USD 38,147  
(₹ 32.65 Lakhs).

	 Fair Value Measurement using significant unobservable inputs (level 3)

	 The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances for Level 3 fair values for Investment 
in Alternative Investment Fund:

Remuneration of Key Managerial Personnel: Amounts in USD Amounts in INR

Opening balance  -    -   
Add/(Less): Net gain/(loss) on Financial Instruments recognised 
in the Statement of Profit and Loss

 (25,012)  (21,40,742)

Add: Purchases of Financial Instruments  4,15,544  3,49,46,703 
Less: Sale of Financial Instruments  (9,062)  (7,59,299)
Add/(Less): Foreign Exchange fluctuation recognised in FCTR  -    6,00,075 
Closing balance  3,81,470  3,26,46,737 
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	 The hierarchy used is as follows:

	 Level 1 - Inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

	 Level 2 - Inputs are other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. 
as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

	 Level 3 - Inputs are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). Fair values are determined in whole or in part 
using a valuation model based on assumptions that are neither supported by prices from observable current market transactions in 
the same instrument nor are they based on available market data.

	 The valuation techniques used to determine the Fair Valuation of financial instruments are described below:

Financial instruments Valuation techniques

Investment in Alternative Investment Fund On the basis of latest NAV available

	 In order to assess Level 3 valuations, the management reviews the performance of the Alternative Investment Fund on a regular 
basis by tracking their latest available financial statements / financial information, valuation report of independent valuers, recent 
transaction results etc. which are considered in valuation process.						    

B. 	 Financial Risk Management
	 The Company’s primary focus is to foresee the unpredictability of financial markets and seek to minimise potential adverse effects on 

its financial performance. The purpose of risk management is to identify potential problems before they occur, so that risk-handling 
activities may be planned and invoked as needed to manage adverse impacts on achieving objectives. Set out below, is a comparison 
by class of the carrying amounts and fair value of the Company’s financial instruments other than those with carrying amounts that 
are reasonable approximations of fair value.							     

	 The Company is exposed to different types of risks arising from Financial Instruments, which are as follows:

Exposure arising from Risk

Financial liabilities	 Liquidity Risk 
Cash and cash equivalents, other Bank balances, trade receivables 
and financial assets measured at amortised cost

Credit Risk

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities not denominated in USD Market Risk - Foreign Exchange Risk		
Investments in Alternative Investment Funds measured at FVTPL Market Risk - Price Risk

1. 	 Liquidity Risk

	 Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities that 
are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. Liquidity risk arises because of the possibility that the Company might be unable 
to meet its payment obligations when they fall due as a result of mismatches in the timing of the cash flows under both normal and stress 
circumstances. Such scenarios could occur when funding needed for illiquid asset positions is not available to the Company on acceptable terms. 
To limit this risk, management has adopted a policy of managing assets with due consideration to liquidity and monitoring future 
cash flows and liquidity on a regular basis. The Company has developed internal control processes for managing liquidity risk. The 
Company maintains sufficient bank balance and fixed deposits. The Company assesses the liquidity position under a variety of 
scenarios, giving due consideration to stress factors relating to both the market in general and specifically to the Company.
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	 The tables below provides details regarding the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities at the reporting date based 

on contractual undiscounted payments.

(Amounts in USD)

Particulars Carrying Amount
Contractual Cash Flow 

Total Up to 1 year More than 1 year 

Financial Liabilities     
 - Trade Payables  54,244  54,244  54,244  -   
 - Lease liabilities  82,605  98,608  17,036  81,572 
 - Other financial liabilities  2,692  2,692  2,692  -   

(Amounts in INR)

Particulars Carrying Amount
Contractual Cash Flow 

Total Up to 1 year More than 1 year 

Financial Liabilities     
 - Trade Payables  46,42,277  46,42,277  46,42,277  -   
 - Lease liabilities  70,69,452  84,39,026  14,58,000  69,81,026 
 - Other financial liabilities  2,30,386  2,30,386  2,30,386  -   

2. 	 Credit Risk 							     
	 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 

obligations and arises principally from the Company’s trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, and financial assets 
measured at amortised cost. Exposure to credit risk is mitigated through regular monitoring of collections and  counterparty’s credit 
worthiness and diversification in exposure. The Company has a prudent and conservative process for managing its credit risk 
arising in the course of its business activities. The Company has well defined investment policy restricting investments in various 
risk categories such as high/moderate etc.							    

	 Exposure to credit risk

	 The carrying amount of financial assets represents maximum amount of credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk is as 
per the table below, it being total of carrying amount of cash and cash equivalent, other bank balances, trade and other receivables 
and financial assets measured at amortised cost.

Particulars Amounts in USD Amounts in INR

Maximum Exposure to Credit Risk  22,92,163  19,61,66,519 

	 Further, Refer Note no. 4 for Trade Receivables ageing analysis schedule.

	 Expected Credit Loss (ECL) on Financial Assets							     

	 In accordance with Ind AS 109, the Company uses ‘Expected Credit Loss’ (ECL) model, for evaluating impairment of financial assets 
other than those measured at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL). 

	 Expected credit losses are measured through a loss allowance at an amount equal to:

	 - The 12-months expected credit losses (expected credit losses that result from those default events on the financial instrument that 
are possible within 12 months after the reporting date); or 

	 - Full lifetime expected credit losses (expected credit losses that result from all possible default events over the life of the financial 
instrument) 

	 For trade receivables, the Company applies ‘simplified approach’ which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from 
initial recognition of the receivables. The Company uses historical default rates to determine impairment loss on the portfolio of trade 
receivables. The Company has determined based on historical experience and expectations that the ECL on its trade receivables is 
insignificant and was not recorded. At every reporting date, these historical default rates are reviewed and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analysed.
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	 For other assets, the Company uses 12-month ECL to provide for impairment loss where there is no significant increase in credit 
risk. If there is significant increase in credit risk, full lifetime ECL is used.

	 The Company has 3 types of financial assets that are subject to the expected credit loss:

	  - Cash and Cash equivalent

	  - Trade Receivables

	 - Other Financial Assets

	 Trade and Other Receivables
	 Exposures to customers’ outstanding at the end of each reporting period are reviewed by the Company to determine incurred and 

expected credit losses. Historical trends of collection from counterparties on timely basis reflects low level of credit risk. As the 
Company has a contractual right to such receivables as well as control over preponderant amount of such funds due from customers, 
the Company does not estimate any credit risk in relation to such receivables.

	 Cash and Cash Equivalents
	 The Company holds cash and cash equivalents and other bank balances as per note 2 and 3. The credit worthiness of such banks 

and financial institutions is evaluated by the management on an ongoing basis and is considered to be high.

	 Other Financial Asset
	 The Company holds other financial assets as per Note no. 6. Based on the credit profile of counterparties, the Company does not 

expect any significant risk of default.

3. 	 Market Risk:
	 Market risk is the risk of loss of future earnings, fair values or future cash flows related to financial instrument that may result from 

adverse changes in market rates and prices (such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates, other prices). The Company is exposed 
to market risk primarily related to Price risk, Currency risk, and Interest rate risk.

i. 	 Price risk management:
	 Price risk is the risk that the value of the financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices and related market 

variables, whether caused by factors specific to an individual investment, its issuer or the market. The Company’s exposure to price 
risk arises from investments in alternative investment funds which are classified as financial assets at Fair Value Through Profit and 
Loss. The following is the Company’s exposure to price risk:	

Particulars Amounts in USD Amounts in INR

Investment exposure to price risk  3,81,470  3,26,46,737 

	 Price sensitivity analysis:							     

	 The table below sets out the effect on profit or loss and equity due to reasonable possible weakening / strengthening in prices/ 
market value by 5% :

Effect on Profit or Loss Amounts in USD Amounts in INR

5% decrease in prices  (19,074)  (16,32,339)
5% increase in prices  19,074  16,32,339 

ii. 	 Foreign currency risk management:

	 Foreign currency risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a currency 
that is not the functional currency (USD) of the Company. The Company undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies 
(mainly INR), however, considering the size and nature of business operations, the currency risk is insignificant.

iii. 	 Interest rate risk management:

	 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates. The Company’s investments are primarily in fixed rate interest instruments. Accordingly, the exposure to interest rate 
risk is insignificant.
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29. 	 Maturity Analysis of Assets and Liabilities 
	 The table below shows an analysis of assets and liabilities  analysed according to their maturity profile.

Particulars  Amounts in USD  Amounts in INR
 Within 12  
months  

 After 12 
months  Total  Within 12  

months  
 After 12 
months  Total 

ASSETS
1 FINANCIAL ASSETS

(a) Cash & Cash equivalents  1,81,640  -  1,81,640  1,55,45,006  -    1,55,45,006 
(b) Bank Balance other than (a) 

above
 20,85,475  -  20,85,475  17,84,77,870  -    17,84,77,870 

(c) Receivables
(i)  Trade Receivables  18,723  -  18,723  16,02,341  -    16,02,341 

(d) Investments  -    3,81,470    3,81,470  -    3,26,46,737  3,26,46,737 
(e) Other Financial assets  -    6,325    6,325  -    5,41,302  5,41,302 
SUB-TOTAL - FINANCIAL 
ASSETS

 22,85,838  3,87,795  26,73,633  19,56,25,217  3,31,88,039  22,88,13,256 

2 NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
(a) Current Tax assets ( Net)  6,638  -    6,638  5,68,089  -    5,68,089 
(b) Property, Plant and 

Equipment
 -    85,760  85,760  -    73,39,460  73,39,460 

(c) Other Non- financial assets  13,664  2,462  16,126  11,69,384  2,10,701  13,80,085 
SUB-TOTAL - NON 
FINANCIAL ASSETS

 20,302  88,222  1,08,524  17,37,473  75,50,161  92,87,634 

TOTAL ASSETS  23,06,140  4,76,017  27,82,157  19,73,62,690  4,07,38,200  23,81,00,890 

LIABILITIES
1 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

(a) Trade Payables
(i) Total outstanding dues of 
micro enterprises and small 
enterprises

 3,643  -    3,643  3,11,773  -    3,11,773 

(ii) Total outstanding dues 
of creditors other than 
micro enterprises and small 
enterprises

 50,601  -    50,601  43,30,504  -    43,30,504 

(b) Other financial liabilities  15,933  69,364  85,297  13,63,537  59,36,301  72,99,838 
SUB-TOTAL - FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES

 70,177  69,364  1,39,541  60,05,814  59,36,301  1,19,42,115 

2 NON-FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES
(a) Provisions  42,558  -    42,558  36,42,174  -    36,42,174 
SUB-TOTAL - NON 
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

 42,558  -    42,558  36,42,174  -    36,42,174 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  1,12,735  69,364  1,82,099  96,47,988  59,36,301  1,55,84,289 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH 2025
30. 	 Dues to Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises		

	 Trade payables include amounts payable to Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises. Under the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises 
Development Act, 2006, (MSMEDA) which came into force from October 02, 2006, certain disclosures are required to be made 
relating to Micro, Small and Medium enterprises. On the basis of the information and records available with the management, the 
following disclosures are made for the amounts due to the Micro, Small and Medium enterprises, who have registered with the 
competent authorities.						    

Particulars Amounts in USD Amounts in INR
Principal amount remaining unpaid to any supplier as at the year end  3,643  3,11,773 

Interest due thereon Nil Nil

Amount of interest paid by the company in terms of section 16 of the MSMEDA, along 
with the amount of the payment made to the supplier beyond the appointed day during 
the accounting year

Nil Nil

Amount of interest due and payable for the year of delay in making payment (which 
have been paid but beyond the appointed day during the year) but without adding the 
interest specified under the MSMEDA

Nil Nil

Amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of the accounting year Nil Nil

The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the succeeding 
years, until such date when the interest dues above are actually paid to the small 
enterprise, for the purpose of disallowance of a deductible expenditure under section 
23 of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006.

Nil Nil

31. 	 Expenditure in Foreign Currency :						    

Particulars Amounts in USD Amounts in INR

Expenditure in Foreign Currency  4,37,040  3,73,94,336 

32. 	 Disclosures with regard to the new amendments under “Division III of Schedule III” under “Part I – Balance Sheet - General Instructions 
for preparation of Balance Sheet” in relation to the following clauses WA and WB are as under:

	 - 	 The Company does not have any borrowings from banks/financial insitutions.

	 - 	 The Company does not have immovable property, hence, disclosure specified as per clause WB (i) is not applicable. The Company 
has executed a Provisional Letter of Allotment (PLOA) for transfer of existing lease of office premises [under the name of SBI 
Funds Management Limited (IFSC Branch)] upon exit of the IFSC Branch from SEZ.

	 - 	 The Company does not have investment property in terms IND AS 40.	

	 - 	 The Company has not revalued any of its Property, Plant and Equipment (including Right of-Use Assets) during the year.

	 - 	 The Company does not have any Intangible Assets, hence, the disclosure relating to revaluation of intangible assets is not 
applicable.

	 - 	 The Company has not granted any loans or advances in the nature of loans to promoters, directors, KMPs and the related parties 
(as defined under the Companies Act, 2013).

	 - 	 The Company does not have any capital work in progress.

	 - 	 The Company does not have any Intangible Assets under development.

	 - 	 There are no proceedings initiated or pending against the company for holding any benami property under the Benami Transactions 
(Prohibitions) Act, 1988 (45 of 1988) and the rules made thereunder.

	 - 	 The company does not have any borrowings from banks or financial institutions on the basis of security of current assets.
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	 - 	 The Company has not been declared a Wilful Defaulter by any bank or financial institution or consortium thereof in accordance 
with the guidelines on wilful defaulters issued by the Reserve Bank of India.

	 - 	 The Company has not entered into any transaction with companies struck off under section 248 of the Companies Act 2013.

	 - 	 The Company does not have any charges or satisfaction yet to be registered with ROC beyond the statutory period.

	 - 	 The requirement for number of layers prescribed under clause (87) of section 2 of the Companies Act 2013 read with Companies 
(Restriction on number of Layers) Rules, 2017 is not applicable to the Company since the Company does not have any subsidiary.

	 -	  The Company is not in the lending business, it does not have any credit exposure. Hence, disclosure of ratios specified in clause 
WB(xiv) are not applicable.

	 - 	 The Company has not entered into any Scheme of Arrangements in terms of sections 230 to 237 of the Companies Act, 2013.

	 - 	 The Company has neither advanced or loaned or invested funds (either borrowed funds or share premium or any other source 
or kind of funds) nor received any funds to/ from any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (Intermediaries) for 
lending or investing or providing guarantees to/ on behalf of the ultimate beneficiary during the financial year.

33. 	 Disclosure with regard to the new amendments under “Division III of Schedule III” under “Part II – Statement of Profit and Loss - 
General Instructions for preparation of Statement of Profit and Loss” in relation to the following clauses 11(v), 11(vi) and 11(vii) are 
as under:

	 - 	 The Company does not have transactions which are not recorded in the books of accounts that has been surrendered or disclosed 
as income during financial year in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961.

	 - 	 The Company is not covered under the provisions of Section 135 of Companies Act, 2013 relating to Corporate Social Responsibility 
(CSR).

	 - 	 The Company has not traded or invested in Crypto currency or Virtual Currency during any financial year.

34. 	 The first Financial Year of the Company is for the period 7th February 2024 to 31st March 2025. Hence, comparative figures of 
previous year are not applicable.									       
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